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GROUP STRUCTURE

Company structure and shareholdings

The listed company MVV Energie AG has its legal domicile  
in Mannheim and is the parent company of MVV. On the one 
hand, MVV Energie AG has its own operations. On the other 
hand, it directly or indirectly owns shares in those companies 
which form part of the Group. Including MVV Energie AG, a 
total of 172 companies are fully consolidated in the consoli-
dated financial statements    Page 189. For 37 companies, we 
apply the equity method. Our largest locations are in Mann-
heim, Kiel, Offenbach and Wörrstadt. Our group of companies 
is represented in 19 countries. As well as Germany, these 
include the United Kingdom and the Czech Republic.   

  GRI 102-1    GRI 102-3    GRI 102-4 
  GRI 102-5    GRI 102-7

Organisational structure

We adjusted our reporting structure at the beginning of the 
2018 financial year. The adjustment ensures that our consistent 
focus on our customers’ needs is adequately accounted for – 
and that both in our sales activities and in our reporting. More-
over, the new structure reflects the growing importance of 
renewable energies and energy efficiency.  

Finally, it takes account of our focus on consistently and sus-
tainably ensuring supply reliability. We continue to manage 
MVV in five segments and also base our external reporting on 
these. Various business fields are allocated to the reporting 
segments:

The Customer Solutions reporting segment is subdivided into 
the business fields of Commodities, Retail and Business. 

The New Energies reporting segment comprises the Environ-
mental Energy, Wind/Biomethane and Project Development 
business fields.

As well as Combined Heat and Power, the Supply Reliability 
reporting segment also includes the Grids business field. 

The Strategic Investments reporting segment mainly consists 
of Köthen Energie, MVV Energie CZ and the at-equity result  
of Stadtwerke Ingolstadt.

The Other Activities reporting segment includes our shared 
service companies and cross-divisional functions. Our shared 
service companies perform metering, billing and IT services 
for the Group, thus generating the necessary benefits of scale 
and ensuring high process quality.    GRI 102-2

REPORTING SEGMENTS AND BUSINESS FIELDS

Reporting segments

Business fields

Customer Solutions New Energies Supply Reliability Strategic  
Investments Other Activities

Shared  
Services

Cross-Divisional  
Functions

Combined  
Heat and Power

Grids

Environmental 
Energy

Wind/ 
Biomethane

Project  
DevelopmentCommodities

Business

Retail Strategic  
Investments
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BUSINESS MODEL

With around 6,000 employees, MVV is one of Germany’s lead-
ing energy companies. We focus our activities on providing  
a reliable, economical and environmentally-friendly supply of 
energy to our industrial, commercial and private household 
customers. Their individual needs and expectations motivate 
us in developing innovative products and business models. Here, 
we cover all stages of the energy value chain: from generating 
electricity, heating energy, biomethane and biogas and pro-
ducing water to energy trading to distributing energy and water 
via proprietary distribution grids through to our sales activities 
and environmental energy and energy-related service busi-
nesses. We are also active in developing renewable energies 
projects and managing operations at windfarms, solar parks 
and biomass plants.    GRI 102-6

Customer Solutions segment

The Customer Solutions reporting segment on the one hand 
includes the retail business for electricity, gas, heating energy 
and water with all customer groups. Over and above that, it 
also includes our range of solutions relating to self-generated 
solar power for our private and business customers. They can 
individually compile their own energy packages – from roof-
based photovoltaics systems to battery storage facilities to 
charging points for electric vehicles. The services offered by our 
subsidiary Beegy range from planning, building and operat-
ing sustainable appliances – such as photovoltaics collectors, 
thermal storage, heat pumps, storage heating and battery 
storage – through to their energy-optimised use. As a compe-
tent and experienced efficiency partner, MVV Enamic develops 
smart energy products and innovative solutions for industrial, 
retail and real estate customers. Its services include transparent 
electricity and gas procurement, as well as sustainable energy 
generation, energy data management, billing services and 
contracting solutions. Its supplements these with smart meter-
ing, e-mobility and LED services and solutions. Drawing on  
the broad range of products and services offered by Beegy  
and MVV Enamic, we enable all our customers to participate 
in the energy turnaround and, together with us, to make their 
own active contributions. The Customer Solutions segment 
also includes the service and trading business at MVV Trading. 

This company pools the energy procurement and energy prod-
uct trading activities within our group of companies. It procures 
and markets all customary trading commodities, such as elec-
tricity, natural gas, emission and green electricity rights and 
financial coal and oil products, and that both on the exchange 
and in over-the-counter (OTC) trading. Moreover, it also secures 
MVV’s generation and sales positions on a long-term basis. 
This hedging enables risks to be centrally managed and mini-
mised. MVV Trading is also responsible for the direct marketing 
business and offers its whole range of services, also to third-
party customers, on the market.

New Energies segment

The New Energies reporting segment contains our plants  
fired by waste and biomass in Mannheim, Offenbach, Leuna, 
Königs Wusterhausen, Flörsheim-Wicker, Dundee, Plymouth 
and Ridham Dock. At our plants, we rely on highly efficient 
combined heat and power (CHP) generation. These plants are 
supplemented by our renewable energies plants – and here 
especially onshore wind turbines. Moreover, we also use a wide 
range of biomass to generate electricity, heating energy, bio
methane and biogas. With Juwi and Windwärts, we are active 
in developing renewable energies projects and managing 
operations at windfarms and solar parks. In Germany, Juwi 
focuses above all on onshore wind turbines, while its inter
national business mainly deals with photovoltaics projects. 
Windwärts concentrates on onshore wind turbines, especially 
in northern Germany, and also operates in France. 

Supply Reliability segment 

The Supply Reliability reporting segment comprises our con-
ventional energies generation portfolio based on combined heat 
and power (CHP) generation. These include our CHP plants in 
Mannheim, Kiel and Offenbach. To provide a reliable supply  
of electricity, heating energy, gas and water, high-performing 
grids are crucial. For this reason, this segment also includes 
the grid businesses at our distribution grid operators MVV 
Netze, Energienetze Offenbach and SWKiel Netz. We are con-
tinually investing in modernising and expanding our grid 
infrastructure in those regions in which we operate. Overall, 
at MVV we have electricity, district heating, gas and water 
grids with a total length of around 19,000 kilometres.
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CORPORATE STRATEGY

We are creating the energy system of the future 
The energy industry is undergoing a process of fundamental 
transformation. The energy of the future will be environmen-
tally and climate-friendly, reliable and economical. We acted 
early to align MVV towards this future and are continually 
working to develop our company further. We are consistently 
investing in renewable energies, energy efficiency and supply 
reliability. We are actively shaping this transformation. We  
are enabling our customers to implement their own energy 
turnarounds – with renewable energies, energy efficiency and 
innovative products and services. To this end, we draw on our 
competence, our experience and our power of innovation. In 
all our activities, we accord great value to high service quality 
and customer satisfaction.

Three key developments will shape the new energy world: the 
decarbonisation of the energy supply, with further growth in 
renewable energies, the ongoing associated process of decen-
tralisation and the digitalisation of the energy industry – a 
technological transformation that will affect all stages of the 
value chain and make new solutions possible.

We are continually developing our strategy further and adapt-
ing it to current and future changes in the market, the com-
petitive climate and the energy policy framework. This way, 
we are creating a basis to secure and extend our head start 
within the sector in future as well.

By successfully implementing our 
strategy, we are creating the energy 
system of the future. Based on a  
clear and permanently enhanced 
strategy, a strong brand and a  
vibrant corporate culture. And  
always focusing on our customers.

of the future
Energy

Renewable  
energies

Energy  
efficiency

Innovative  
products and  

services

Corporate Strategy | About Us | COMBINED MANAGEMENT REPORT

65

Annual Report 2018 | MVV



We will be making large-scale investments once again in the 
years ahead and will be focusing here on further expanding 
renewable energies, boosting energy efficiency and develop-
ing innovative services and products for smart, decentralised 
energy management. In consistently implementing our stra-
tegic alignment, we aim to achieve a balanced structure of 
opportunities and risks. Continuous optimisation and value 
focus enable us initially to create a basis on which to generate 
further growth. We maintain a balance between regulated and 
unregulated business, between business fields and between 
business in Germany and abroad. We carefully weigh up each 
investment project. Alongside sustainability, future viability 
and customer focus, the criteria we consider also include eco-
nomic viability and conformity with our strategy.

We are expanding renewable energies
When it comes to renewable energies, we cover the entire value 
chain from project development to plant operations through 
to marketing the electricity. Our activities here include onshore 
wind power, where we intend to further expand our portfolio, 
as well as using biomass and biogas. In generating energy 
from waste timber, non-recyclable timber and fresh timber, 
we are already one of the German market leaders. We also 
draw on market potential for biogas-based electricity and 
heating energy generation. To supplement our existing bio
methane cluster in the Magdeburger Börde region, in the 2018 
financial year we included an organic waste fermentation plant 
in our portfolio for the first time. A second plant also using 
organic waste to generate biogas has already been planned.  
In its international project development business, Juwi mainly 
focuses on photovoltaics projects. Over and above this, we are 
reviewing the economic potential which photovoltaics-based 
electricity generation harbours for our group of companies. 
Overall, the consistent implementation of our investment  
targets will further transform our generation portfolio, which 
is set to become far greener and more broadly diversified.
 
Our “Heating Vision” forms the basis for a  
forward-looking supply
Another firm component of our corporate strategy involves 
using combined heat and power generation in conjunction 
with environmentally-friendly district heating, which we will 
be expanding further. With our highly efficient CHP plants,  
we are already making a major contribution towards reducing 

CO2 emissions. Our heating energy concept is structured in 
such a way as to remain modern, innovative and reliable in 
future and, over and above that, to make significant progress 
towards climate-neutrality. In the 2018 financial year, we pro-
duced 27 % of our electricity and 85 % of our heating energy 
using combined heat and power generation. 

On Kiel Fjord, the new gas-powered CHP plant “Küstenkraftwerk 
K.I.E.L.” will replace the coal-fired joint power plant. By drawing 
on CHP technology, this plant will simultaneously generate 
electricity and heating energy, leading to a high level of effi-
ciency. In combination with a heating energy storage facility 
and a power-to-heat system, this plant will be able to react 
with the utmost flexibility to the changing needs of the energy 
market. The plant will thus not only secure the supply of dis-
trict heating in Kiel, but will also emit more than 70 % less CO2 
than its predecessor. 

Producing electricity and heating energy from waste is a key 
pillar of a modern, resource-efficient, recycling-based economy. 
We are one of Germany’s leading operators of energy from 
waste and biomass plants. Not only that, we have been active 
in the UK market for several years with our waste-fired CHP 
plant in Plymouth and our biomass plant at Ridham Dock. In 
the 2018 financial year, we further expanded our involvement 
in the UK and took over an energy from waste plant in Dundee 
in Scotland. We will initially continue to operate this plant while 
we build a highly efficient heat and power plant in the direct 
vicinity. This is due to be completed in 2020. 

We are developing our Friesenheimer Insel location in Mann-
heim into an even more valuable component of the energy 
turnaround and a sustainable recycling-based economy for 
Mannheim and the Rhine-Main metropolitan region. On the 
one hand, we are connecting our CHP plant to Mannheim’s 
existing district heating grid. This will enable us in future  
to use the heating energy produced from waste incineration  
not only to supply steam to neighbouring industry, but also  
in our supply of district heating in Mannheim and the metro-
politan region. On the other hand, we intend to extend the 
CHP plant and will use municipal sewage to generate environ-
mentally-friendly electricity while facilitating the recovery 
of phosphorous – a valuable raw material in the production  
of manure.
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We are investing in expanding and optimising our grids
The ability to smartly combine highly efficient conventional 
generation with generation from renewable energies will  
be absolutely crucial for the energy system of the future. The  
reliability, intelligence and performance capacity of our grids 
will play a key role in this respect. We are therefore continually 
investing in maintaining, expanding and optimising our grids 
and plants.

Innovative products and services for our customers
We are developing innovative products and services for smart 
and decentralised energy management and tailoring these  
to the needs of our industrial, retail, commercial and private 
customers. In this, we are drawing on our proven competen-
cies and decades of experience. Over and above this, we are 
supplementing our range of products and services by forging 
strategic partnerships with companies that have new ideas, 
or acquiring shareholdings in such companies. Our customers 
also benefit from this combination of energy industry know 
how, software intelligence, great experience and expertise. 
Together with our subsidiary Econ Solutions, for example,  
we already offer one-stop energy monitoring and efficiency 
solutions for medium-sized industrial businesses, large com-
mercial businesses and chain operators. For our customers in 
the housing industry, we work with our joint venture Qivalo  
to offer new, all-round solutions meeting the requirements 
they have in a modern metering services provider. By acquiring 
a stake in Data Center Group in the 2018 financial year, we 
also boosted our range of services, particularly in the field of 
digitalisation. Additional focuses include further expanding 
electro-mobility – in terms both of the charging infrastructure 
for industrial and business customers and of suitable com-
bined solutions comprising electric vehicles, PV systems and 
charging points for private customers – and further develop-
ing the forward-looking “Smart Cities” concept in our capac-
ity as a partner to local authorities and innovative municipal 
utility companies.

The future has already begun. With us.
Consistently implementing our corporate strategy will enable 
us to secure and expand our position as a pioneer of the energy 
turnaround in future as well. After all, we assume our economic, 
ecological and social responsibility not just from one financial 
year to the next, but also on a long-term basis with a clear 
view to the future. That is why sustainability forms the basis 
for our entrepreneurial responsibility. We underlined this at 
the beginning of the 2017 financial year with our strategic 
sustainability targets    Page 18 which we intend to meet by 
the end of the 2026 financial year:

»» We assume responsibility for climate protection.
	 – � We will triple annual CO2 savings at our fully consolidated 

companies and the companies we recognise at equity  
to 1 million tonnes a year.

»» We make the energy turnaround happen.
	 – � We will double our proprietary electricity generation from 

renewable energies at our fully consolidated companies 
and the companies we recognise at equity.

	 – � We will connect 10,000 MW of renewable energies to 
the grid.

	 – � The energy system of the future will remain our key invest-
ment focus. We will invest a further total of Euro 3 billion. 
The main focuses of our growth investments will be on 
wind power, biomass and biomethane, our environmental 
energy business and our business customers. We are 
therefore investing in plants that fit in with our company 
and will advance the energy system of the future. 

»» We make the energy turnaround possible for all our  
customers.

	 – � As a competent partner, we will offer all customers  
– from private households to industrial players – the 
products and services they need to implement their own 
energy turnarounds.

As we advance towards the new energy world, we have  
combined our strategy, brand and culture to form a powerful 
unity – open, energetic, reliable and self-confident. We inspire 
with energy.
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VALUE-BASED CORPORATE MANAGEMENT

The aim of our corporate management is to sustainably 
increase MVV’s value and to offer an attractive dividend to  
our shareholders. We achieve this by generating a positive 
value spread, i.e. when the return on average capital employed 
(adjusted ROCE) is higher than the costs of capital (WACC).

The most important key figure we refer to in our value-based 
corporate management is adjusted operating earnings before 
interest and taxes (adjusted EBIT). We use this to assess the 
medium and long-term success of our business activities.  
To calculate this key figure, we eliminate the earnings items 
resulting from measurement of financial derivatives pursuant 
to IAS 39 as of the reporting date, items resulting from the 
structural adjustment for part-time early retirement and  
– where applicable – restructuring expenses. We add interest 
income from finance leases reported below EBIT in the income 
statement to our adjusted EBIT. This income results from our 
contracting projects and therefore forms part of our operating 
business.

We have reviewed the individual parameters used to calculate 
MVV’s WACC figure for the year under report and updated 
these in line with changes in the market.

On this basis, we calculated equity costs of 6.5 % (previous 
year: 6.7 %) after taxes and debt costs of 2.0 % (previous year: 
1.9 %) after taxes. The capital structure of MVV’s peer group 
amounts to 54.1 % for equity (previous year: 50.0 %) and to 
45.9 % for debt (previous year: 50.0 %). The Group tax rate is 
30 % (previous year: 30 %). The WACC after taxes for the 2018 
financial year calculated on the basis of this data amounted 
to 4.4 % (previous year: 4.3 %) and 6.3 % before taxes (previous 
year: 6.1 %).

The ROCE for the 2018 financial year amounted to 8.5 %, as 
against 8.2 % in the previous year. The higher ROCE was due  
to the increase in adjusted EBIT and lower average volume of 
capital employed compared with the previous year.

By subtracting the WACC before taxes of 6.3 % (previous year: 
6.1 %) from the ROCE of 8.5 % (previous year: 8.2 %), it can be 
seen that value spread for the year under report amounted to 
2.2 % (previous year: 2.1 %).

Adjusted EBIT

Costs of equity  
(including market risk  

premium and beta factor)

Adjusted ROCE

Capital employed

Costs of debt  
(including risk premium)

WACC

Value spread

CALCULATION OF VALUE SPREAD 
(simplified presentation)

KEY VALUE MANAGEMENT FIGURES 
(%)

9

8

7

6

5

4

3

2

1

0

6.36.1

WACC

8.58.2

ROCE

2.1 2.2

Value spread

 FY 2017    FY 2018

Value-Based Corporate Management | About Us | COMBINED MANAGEMENT REPORT

68

Annual Report 2018 | MVV



TECHNOLOGY AND INNOVATION

Germany’s energy system is undergoing rapid transformation. 
It is becoming ever more decentralised and digitalisation is 
progressing apace. These developments harbour both chal-
lenges and opportunities for our industry. Rapid advances  
in technology are impacting on virtually all processes in the 
energy industry. Structuring the new system is a task that is 
both complex and highly promising. In view of this, we are 
closely monitoring and tracking the latest trends and promis-
ing technological advances. After all, we have set ourselves 
the goal of developing innovative products and services that 
are aligned to customers’ needs – and then bringing these 
quickly and efficiently to market. We pressed ahead with the 
following projects, among others, in the 2018 financial year: 

RealValue EU project: successfully networking  
decentralised generation and consumers
The energy system of the future will live off communication. 
Large numbers of electricity consumers are facing ever higher 
numbers of decentralised electricity generation plants, such 
as wind turbines and photovoltaics systems. This situation 
places ever new requirements in the electricity grid, as the 
energy supply has to be secure around the clock, also at night 
and when there is no wind. This requires electricity generation 
and electricity consumption to be smartly linked. One ever 
more important factor is how to deal with electricity that is 
not actually needed at the time of its generation. To address 
this, the “RealValue” project focused on solutions enabling 
energy from decentralised and renewable generation to be put 
to efficient use close to source. This power-to-heat project, 
which ended in June 2018, was promoted with funds from the 
EU’s “Horizon 2020” subsidy programme. Together with our 
Beegy subsidiary and Glen Dimplex Deutschland, we played  
a key role in the German part of the project.

Within the project, a total of 750 households and commercial 
businesses in Germany, Ireland and Latvia were equipped with 
smart, networked energy systems comprising electric storage 
heating and heat pumps. This way, it was possible to adjust 
energy consumption to the respective solar and wind power 
generation volumes. More than 100 households in Mannheim 
took part in the field trials and had state-of-the-art storage 
heating systems, smart control systems for existing heating 
systems and smart meters installed.

The field trials demonstrated that it is technically possible to 
use the storage heaters as networked, decentralised electricity 
storage facilities. Depending on the level of supply available 
on the Electricity Exchange, the participants’ heating systems 
stored electricity in the form of heating energy and emitted 
this in line with customers’ requirements. By using an app, 
participants were able to set the room temperatures in line 
with the time of day and precisely monitor their electricity 
consumption via smart meters. The participants in customer 
surveys and focus groups expressed great interest in benefiting 
from increased convenience and lower electricity costs. For 
many participants, modern technology, such as the ability to 
manage heating in line with their needs on a remote basis via 
app, is important. This project offers one example of how the 
energy and heating energy sectors can be smartly interlinked 
in the energy system of the future. 

C/sells cellular energy system 
The energy turnaround project C/sells is intended to show the 
way towards a digital energy system. The Federal Ministry for 
Economic Affairs and Energy (BMWi) included the project in its 
nationwide “Smart Energy Showcase – Digital Agenda for the 
Energy Turnaround” initiative. A total of Euro 100 million is 
being invested in the model region in southern Germany, in 
which nearly 60 participants from industry, the energy sector 
and science are building an energy management system with 
a cellular structure and a new smart grid approach. A system 
of this kind consists of several small units – so-called cells – 
which may be properties, districts or towns. Each of these 
cells attempts to balance its proprietary electricity generation 
and electricity requirements directly on location. Energy is 
only exchanged with a connected cell when local production 
is insufficient to cover current demand. This way, each cell 
assumes responsibility for the equilibrium of the overall energy 
system. FRANKLIN, the conversion space in Mannheim, pro-
vides the opportunity to form just this sort of cell. In FRANKLIN  
District, MVV is simulating and trying out the energy system 
of the future by interconnecting the electricity, heating energy 
and mobility sectors. Digitalisation provides the necessary 
tools – an IoT (Internet of Things) platform is being imple-
mented to interlink the diverse infrastructure components, 
such as energy plants, smart meters and applications. 
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One basis for optimising the district is comprehensive smart 
metering performed in real time with high resolution. This 
provides metering transparency virtually in real time and thus 
enables potential flexibilities to be detected while also facili-
tating smart monitoring. Not only that, the energy flows are 
also made visible for end customers. MVV is creating the basis 
for a modern, forward-looking district by offering added-value 
and other innovative services. 

In order to investigate potential flexibilities, we are installing 
a state-of-the-art charging infrastructure for electric vehicles 
and creating a smart heating energy cell. This cell is intended 
to show how heating energy from regenerative sources can  
be integrated and used on location in ways that make sense. 
Examples here include a power-to-heat plant coupled to a 
photovoltaics system or situation-adjusted control of heating 
energy input into buffer storage systems.

In the year under report, we simulated decentralised heating 
energy input and charging processes for heating storage sys-
tems. These simulations showed that, by using power-to-heat 
solutions to feed heating energy into the local heating grid  
on location, we can efficiently offset heating energy losses. By 
aggregating the decentralised heating storage facilities in the 
Officers’ Quarters and controlling these in a targeted manner, 
we can reduce heating energy losses and ensure a constant 
flow in the heating energy grid.

E-mobility solutions tailored to specific target groups
Electro-mobility is set to become one of the core components 
of the future energy world. Since 2009, we have therefore 
worked consistently to expand our e-mobility innovation field. 
Having built up internal expertise and networks, we took part 
in the South-West Electro-Mobility Cluster, and supplemented 
this with R&D projects directly relevant to our core business 
(Future Fleet, Smart Grid Integration) and application-based 
development work in the C/sells showcase project. These pre-
liminary activities were intended to provide MVV with access to 
a new business field.

By introducing commercial offers for private, commercial and 
business customers, we rapidly rolled out our capabilities to 
our market units in the year under report. “Charge & Motion”, 
a unit at our MVV Enamic subsidiary, is dealing closely with 
our customers’ growing needs in terms of e-mobility solutions 
with a view to developing and offering integrated solutions. 
To help our business customers get started with e-mobility, 
we offer target group-specific solutions for the hospitality  
and real estate sectors, as well as for companies that wish to 
electrify their car pools or enable their employees to charge 
their electric vehicles during working hours.

Furthermore, in a first stage starting in October 2018 we are 
expanding the public charging infrastructure in Mannheim to 
include a further total of around 27 locations. In implementing 
this, we are drawing on the subsidy programme provided by 
the Federal Ministry of Transport and Digital Infrastructure 
(BMVI). In a second stage, this expansion programme will be 
extended to the Rhine-Main metropolitan region. E-mobility 
also forms a key strategic focus in the measures taken by Stadt
werke Kiel AG to address the end customer market. The com-
pany is making rapid progress, for example, in expanding the 
public charging infrastructure. In the medium term, it aims to 
build more than 100 charging points, also with support from 
the BMVI. The basic technical requirements for end customer 
access have been provided by “StromFahrer”, an app which 
has handled the billing for electricity charging at the charging 
points since July 2018. Stadtwerke Kiel has included mobility 
solutions for private and business customers in its product 
range and already implemented its first business customer 
projects. A beacon project at a major partner in the field of  
car sharing is currently in the planning stage and is due to be 
rolled out in spring 2019.
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Cooperation with start-ups
To gain access to new technologies and solutions, we also 
cooperate with start-up companies and work with accelerator 
programmes to this end. Based on a multistage process, we 
first select the start-ups with which we wish to work. In the 
subsequent period, we coach these companies, perform joint 
demonstration projects and accompany them for around five 
months. The benefits for the start-ups are the opportunities to 
rapidly gain experience and access to industry expertise and 
networks. In the long term, this may also lead to the acquisi-
tion of shareholdings in the start-up companies. In our first 
accelerator programme, launched in Berlin last year, we success-
fully completed two demonstration projects. Together with 
prosumery, we developed a digital solution to implement  
tenant electricity, while the project with Datalyze Solutions 
focused on the digitalised presentation and analysis of data 
with a location reference. We launched a second accelerator 
programme in September 2018, in this case with a focus on 
solutions for smart cities. Within this programme as well, we 
opted to cooperate with two start-up companies. The object 
of the cooperation with Breeze Technologies is a concept that 
shows how environment data can be measured as effectively 
as possible and put to efficient use. And with S O Nah the aim 
is to develop a parking management system. 

Ready for Take-Off
Innovations are crucial to MVV’s future operating capacity. 
Here, we are also drawing on the expertise, creativity and 
wealth of ideas available among our employees. In “Take-Off”, 
an internal innovation process we launched in April 2018, 
employees at our Mannheim location have the opportunity  
to devise and pursue ideas for new products, technologies and 
business models. At “Inno-Day” in June 2018, 16 innovators 
presented their ideas and formed teams with interested col-
leagues from across different departments and hierarchical 
levels. All in all, 145 ideas were submitted. The teams, which 
were selected by a jury, had the opportunity over several stages 
to get to know new working methods and further develop 
their ideas in workshops. 

Over a three-month trial period, ideas that subsequently 
prove to be promising are then developed further by the 
teams, prepared for implementation and tested. In January 
2019, we will be deciding how to take these ideas further. 
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»» Slight reduction in sales from Euro 4,010 million to Euro 3,903 million
»» Adjusted EBIT improves from Euro 224 million to Euro 228 million
»» Investments in future energy system

MAJOR DEVELOPMENTS AND  
EXECUTIVE BOARD SUMMARY

Investments ensure we are fit for the future
With our corporate strategy, we have successfully aligned MVV 
to the energy system of the future. We have invested for many 
years now in expanding renewable energies, energy efficiency 
and innovative, forward-looking products and services. In the 
2018 financial year, we consistently maintained this course 
and invested a total of Euro 290 million, with Euro 124 million 
of this sum involving investments in our growth. Our strong 
financing structure and solid adjusted equity ratio of 37.3 % 
will enable us to maintain this high pace of investment in 
future as well.

In November 2017, we agreed a new municipal partnership in 
the field of environmentally-friendly waste management and 
took over an existing energy from waste plant in Dundee/
Scotland. We are currently building a highly efficient new heat 
and power plant in the direct vicinity that is due to launch 
operations in 2020. Overall, we are investing around Euro 135 
million. The new plant is dimensioned for an annual through-
put of 110,000 tonnes of waste. The waste volumes will mostly 
come from municipal partners, with the basis being provided 
by a long-term disposal contract with the City of Dundee and 
Angus Council.

We are expanding our Friesenheimer Insel location in Mannheim 
and will be investing around Euro 100 million here in the years 
ahead. On the one hand, we are connecting our CHP plant to 
the existing district heating grid in Mannheim. This will enable 
us to make optimal use of the energy generated from waste 
incineration. The ground-breaking ceremony took place in 
March 2018. On the other hand, we are extending the CHP 
plant to include a sewage incineration facility enabling the 
phosphorous contained in the sewage to be recovered. This way, 
the location will become an even more important component 
of the energy turnaround and of a sustainable recycling-based 
economy for the City of Mannheim and the Rhine-Neckar 
metropolitan region.

In April 2018, we took over an organic waste fermentation plant 
in Dresden. With a capacity of 31,000 tonnes a year, the plant 
ferments organic waste and produces biogas. This is then used 
to generate electricity in two CHP plants. We are planning a 
second plant also using organic waste to generate biogas, in 
this case in Bernburg in Saxony-Anhalt.

As well as investing in new generation plants and expanding 
existing plants, we are also expanding our portfolio of products 
and services, and here in particular by acquiring targeted 
shareholdings in innovative companies or forging strategic 
partnerships with such companies. In February 2018, for 
example, we acquired a 25.1 % stake in Bonn-based Recogizer 
Group. Together with Recogizer, we aim to draw on the possi-
bilities offered by artificial intelligence in the field of energy 
efficiency and integrate products and services for business 
customers. Recogizer’s applications have a key focus on energy 
savings at buildings and on safeguarding high levels of plant 
availability.

Group Business Performance
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Efficiency measures enhance our competitiveness
In view of the fundamental transformation in the energy 
industry framework, we are continually reviewing our processes 
and organisational structures. After all, sustainably enhancing 
competitiveness is a factor of crucial importance to MVV’s 
successful further development. In the 2017 financial year, for 
example, we already launched a project to compile a forward- 
looking concept for shared services at MVV, Stadtwerke Kiel 
and Energieversorgung Offenbach. The aim here is to raise 
competitiveness, increase flexibility and boost IT and digitali-
sation competence in the specialist divisions. All of the processes 
involved in shared services were analysed in the previous year 
and this was followed in the year under report by the identifi-
cation of actions needed to improve the processes. The first 
measures are already being implemented.

Slight increase in adjusted EBIT with decline in sales 
MVV’s sales for the 2018 financial year fell by Euro 107 million 
to Euro 3,903 million. This development was due above all to 
lower electricity and gas trading volumes. Our adjusted EBIT, 
by contrast, improved by Euro 4 million to Euro 228 million. 
Positive factors contributing to our earnings performance on 
an operating level particularly included the environmental 
energy business, higher revenues from our wind turbines and 
improved availability levels at our UK plants. Furthermore, 
adjusted EBIT benefited from the sale of assets relating to 
multi-utility contracts at MVV ImmoSolutions and the disposal 
of the fibre optic network at MVV Energie AG. Operating earn-
ings were adversely affected, on the other hand, by impairment 
losses recognised for Juwi and at MVV Enamic.

Thanks to the financial result, which also improved, earnings 
before taxes (adjusted EBT) rose year-on-year by Euro 10 million 
to Euro 179 million. Adjusted annual net income after minority 
interests rose less substantially. At Euro 94 million, this was 
only Euro 1 million higher than the previous year’s figure. This 
in turn was due to higher taxes on income and the increase in 
minority interests. Adjusted earnings per share came to Euro 
1.43, as against Euro 1.41 in the previous year.

Executive Board summary of business performance  
and economic position
Our energy system is undergoing a fundamental conversion 
that will result in far-reaching change. By making targeted 
investments, introducing and maintaining programmes to 
sustainably enhance our efficiency and developing innovative 
products and services, we laid key foundations once again in 
the 2018 financial year to enable us to continue generating 
sustainable and profitable growth.

We met our adjusted EBIT target. We forecast a slight increase 
in earnings compared with the previous year’s figure of Euro 
224 million. At Euro 228 million, our adjusted EBIT improved 
by 2 %. Sales totalled Euro 3,903 million and thus fell slightly 
short of the previous year’s figure and our forecast.

Looking at our operating performance, it is clear that MVV has 
adopted the right strategy in what is a challenging climate. 
One aspect of the new climate is that our earnings performance 
has become more volatile overall – and that not only in our 
renewable energies project development business. That is 
something we have to be aware of. It makes it all the more 
important for us to keep developing our corporate strategy,  
i.e. adapting it to current and future changes in markets, the 
competitive climate and the energy policy framework. 
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Comparison of actual and expected business performance and outlook for 2019 financial year

 Forecast FY 2018 Results FY 2018 Outlook FY 2019

Sales performance 
 

Forecast adjusted after end of 1st half  
of 2018: at around previous year’s level  
(Euro 4.0 billion) 

Sales of Euro 3.9 billion 
 

At around previous year’s level 
  

Adjusted EBIT 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Slight increase on previous year’s figure 
(Euro 224 million) 
 
 
  
 
 
 
 
 
 

Adjusted EBIT of Euro 228 million 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

At around previous year’s level;  
depending on weather and wind  
conditions, the specific operations 
launch date at our new gas-powered 
CHP plant in Kiel, electricity and fuel 
prices, the development in waste  
and biomass prices, the CDS and CSS,  
interest rate and currency effects, the 
development in the competitive climate 
and the availability of our plants. High 
level of volatility in renewable energies 
project development business.

Adjusted equity ratio 
 

Target > 30 % 
 
 

Adjusted equity ratio of 37.3 %  
  

High share of debt-financed growth  
programme continues to impact on  
equity ratio: target > 30 % 

Adjusted ROCE At around previous year’s level (8.2 %) Adjusted ROCE reaches 8.5 % Slightly below previous year’s level

Investments Total planned investments of around  
Euro 300 million 

Total investments of Euro 290 million Significant increase 

Employees 
 

Increase in personnel totals in growth 
fields; further efficiency measures in 
existing business

Reduction in personnel totals to 5,978 
employees as of 30 September 2018  
(previous year: 6,062) 

Increase in personnel totals in growth 
fields; further efficiency measures in 
existing business 

  GRI 102-7
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BUSINESS FRAMEWORK

Energy policy changes

Key energy policy factors
Energy policy in the 2018 financial year was affected by the 
protracted negotiations held to form a coalition government in 
the wake of the Federal Election on 24 September 2017. This 
process lasted until 24 March 2018, when the Chancellor was 
elected and the Grand Coalition relaunched. The negotiations 
preceding the coalition agreement reached between the SPD 
and CDU/CSU parties were one of the main political topics in 
Germany, as were the first efforts to implement the agreement. 
For MVV’s future business performance, three topics in par-
ticular are highly relevant: the further expansion in renewable 
energies, the further development in combined heat and power 
generation and district heating and the work of the newly 
established Commission on Growth, Structural Change and 
Employment.

Coalition agreement approved by SPD and CDU/CSU
The coalition agreement was concluded on 14 March 2018.  
At core, the Federal Ministry for Economic Affairs and Energy 
basically intends to continue with the energy policy pursued 
in the previous legislative period. Alongside a focus on the 
electricity industry, the coalition also stresses sector coupling. 

In the coalition agreement, the governing parties underlined 
their commitment to the 2030 and 2050 climate targets. By 
contrast, they abandoned the target of cutting CO2 emissions 
by 40 % by 2020 compared with the 1990 reference year. The 
shortfall in actions needed to meet the 2020 climate target 
should nevertheless be further remedied in the near future.

Increased expansion of renewable energies
One specific target set by the coalition involves accelerating 
the expansion of renewable energies in Germany to 65 % by 
2030. That represents an increase of around 15 percentage 
points compared with the expansion course previously provided 
for in the German Renewable Energies Act (EEG). To achieve 

this target, special tender rounds for capacities of 4 gigawatts 
each are to be held for onshore wind power and photovoltaics 
in 2019 and 2020. Furthermore, renewable energies are to  
be expanded on an even basis throughout Germany by deter-
mining a minimum capacity addition threshold for southern 
Germany.

The targets set by the Federal Government are consistent  
with our strategic alignment and positive for our project devel-
opment business field. Raising the renewable energies expan-
sion targets is the right step to enable Germany to meet its 
climate protection targets even if electricity demand rises due 
to sector coupling. We have called for the establishment of  
a new “South” capacity addition zone for onshore wind power 
for many years now. This way, it will be possible to generate 
renewable electricity closer to where the load is, make optimal 
use of grid capacities and thus reduce nationwide grid expan-
sion requirements. 

Onshore wind power:  
Excessive privileges suspended
Upon completion of the parliamentary proceedings at the 
beginning of June 2018, the privileges previously granted to 
certain types of projects were curtailed, also for future onshore 
wind tenders, for the period from August 2018 to June 2020. 
That means all participants require approval under the Federal 
Immissions Protection Act (BImSchG) to be permitted to par-
ticipate in tenders.

We welcome this decision by lawmakers, as it will promote 
competition for onshore wind turbine construction by ensuring 
equality of opportunity for all market participants.

Results of tenders in Germany
Excessive privileging in the first three onshore wind power 
tender rounds led to a politically unintended distortion of the 
market in 2017, with citizens’ energy projects being awarded 
virtually all of the tenders. Following the suspension of these 
privileges in February 2018, their share of project tenders has 
reduced compared with the previous year.
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The onshore wind power tender round held with a bidding 
deadline on 1 February 2018 awarded tenders to 83 bids with 
a total volume of 709 MW. The auction was 1.4 times oversub-
scribed. The average acceptance value amounted to 4.73 ct/kWh. 
In the second auction at the beginning of May 2018, the volume 
of 670 MW thereby tendered was for the first time under-
subscribed: The Federal Network Agency received 111 bids 
with a total volume of 604 MW. The average acceptance value 
amounted to 5.73 ct/kWh. In the tender round held as of  
1 August 2018, the Federal Network Agency called for bids  
for onshore wind capacity totalling 670 MW. The volume of 
permissible bids amounted to 667 MW while the average 
acceptance price came to 6.16 ct/kWh.

In the 2018 financial year, a total of 13 onshore wind projects 
at our Juwi and Windwärts subsidiaries were awarded tenders 
in the various tender rounds. Not only that, with the award-
ing of tenders for five open-space photovoltaics systems Juwi 
has successfully re-entered the German solar business. These 
results show that, when competitive conditions are fair, we can 
succeed and be competitive in the new renewable energies 
tendering system.

CHP and district heating remain key components  
of energy policy
Combined heat and power generation and district heating will 
both retain key roles in the energy turnaround. Accordingly, 
the coalition agreement provides for further developing and 
modernising the German Combined Heat and Power Generation 
Act (KWKG) during the current legislative period. Specifically, 
it is planned to expand CHP plants and the district heating 
infrastructure and to enhance their efficiency. 

For MVV, the signal sent out by the Federal Government in 
this respect is positive. After all, district heating forms a major 
component of our core business. If the energy turnaround is 
to succeed, then accelerating the heating energy turnaround 
will be crucial. This is because more than half of end energy 
consumption in Germany is attributable to heating applica-
tions – such as warm water, room heating and other process 
heating. A fair playing field for different technologies and 
competition provide the best conditions for meeting climate 
protection targets in the heating energy sector as well, and 
that both reliably and cost-effectively.

Commission on Growth, Structural Change and 
Employment established
Based on the coalition agreement, the newly established 
Commission on Growth, Structural Change and Employment 
met for the first time in June 2018. The Commission is charged 
with specifying details for the phasing-out of coal use, includ-
ing setting a date by which this process should be completed. 
It is also expected to compile further structural decarbonisation 
measures for the energy industry by 2020 and 2030 and pro-
pose potential ways to finance structural change in the lignite- 
producing regions thereby affected.

The Commission is jointly managed by the Federal Ministry for 
Economic Affairs and Energy (BMWi), the Federal Ministry for 
the Environment, Nature Conservation and Nuclear Safety 
(BMU), the Federal Ministry of the Interior, Building and Com-
munity (BMI) and the Federal Ministry of Labour and Social 
Affairs (BMAS). Alongside politicians, the members of the Com-
mission also include representatives of trade unions, environ-
mental protection and business associations and scientists. 
As well as in the full Commission, various topics are also being 
addressed in the “Economic Development and Jobs in the 
Regions” and “Energy Industry and Climate Targets” work-
groups. The Commission should present an action plan by  
the end of 2018, while the measures are scheduled to be 
enacted in law in 2019. It is not yet clear how relevant the 
results of the Commission’s work will be for our Supply  
Reliability reporting segment.

Cabinet approves promotion for electric cars
In early August 2018, the Federal Government began the pro-
cess of introducing tax relief for company cars with electric 
drive systems. To date, employees using their company cars for 
private purposes have been required to tax 1 % of the list price 
a month as a benefit in kind. For electric and hybrid vehicles, 
this rate is to be halved in future to 0.5 %. The new regulation 
should apply to electric and hybrid vehicles purchased or 
leased in the period from 1 January 2019 to 31 December 
2021. This support is intended to boost sales of company cars 
with electric drive systems.
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Reform of European emissions trading completed 
The reform of European emissions trading for the trading period 
from 2021 onwards was completed in early 2018. In future, the 
volume of available rights will be reduced more significantly 
each year. Furthermore, the market stability reserve has been 
strengthened, thus effectively reducing the excess supply of 
CO2 rights. Should power plants be decommissioned due to 
national measures, member states may simultaneously reduce 
their number of auctioned rights. This will help prevent emis-
sions being relocated to neighbouring states and to other  
sectors in connection with national CO2 savings measures.

We welcome these measures to boost European emissions 
trading, which serves as a core European climate protection 
instrument. CO2 prices have risen significantly as the year has 
progressed. We see this as a sign of growing trust in emissions 
trading once again thanks to the reform.

EU Winter Package on the final straight
The European Commission presented the “Winter Package” – 
an extensive bundle of energy policy legislation – in Novem-
ber 2016 already. The tripartite negotiations between the 
Commission, Parliament and Council will last into winter 
2018/2019. Having said this, significant results were already 
achieved in summer 2018 in respect of updating the Building 
Directive, the Energy Efficiency Directive, the Governance  
Regulation and the Renewable Energy Directive. It has been 
agreed, for example, to raise the 2030 targets for renewable 
energies to 32 % and for energy efficiency to 32.5 %. Each mem-
ber state will be required to implement the directives contained 
in the Winter Package in its own national laws within 18 months 
of the package taking effect. Given the existing latitude, also 
in terms of national implementation, the extent to which  
the Winter Package will impact on our operating business is 
still unclear.

Application of new regulations in  
German Banking Act (KWG) 
The German Banking Act (KWG) was substantially amended as 
of 3 January 2018 to account for the revised MiFiD II Directive 
(Markets in Financial Instruments Directive, MiFID II). The new 
regulations chiefly apply to companies in the financial sector 

and are intended to avert future financial crises by enhancing 
the transparency and integrity of markets and investor protec-
tion. Energy supply companies were not the key focus of the 
Directive, but are nevertheless affected by the new regulations. 
Numerous services and products offered by energy suppliers 
to their customers or marketed on the wholesale energy market 
count as financial instruments and are thus within the scope 
of the amended regulations. Not only that, these products are 
traded both on the exchange and in bilateral agreements or 
via specialist energy trading platforms. Finally, emissions trad-
ing rights are also within the scope of the new capital market 
regulations. In particular, our trading company MVV Trading  
is affected by the new regulations. For its trading activities, 
this company has declared to the Federal Financial Supervisory 
Authority (BaFIN) that it will draw on the ancillary activity 
exemption and is thus required to meet additional follow-up 
obligations. These include compliance with specified limits  
in its corporate activities. Trading activities at MVV Trading 
may not exceed specified limits in relation to the market 
(market share test) and they have to represent the smaller 
share of activities on the level of the MVV Group (main activity 
test). Moreover, new transparency obligations have to be com-
plied with. These involve regular reporting to the supervisory 
authorities on the financial instruments traded. Furthermore, 
position limits set by the supervisory authorities also have  
to be adhered to. 

Decision on equity returns still outstanding
In April 2018, the Federal Network Agency (BNetzA) filed an 
appeal at the Federal Supreme Court (BGH) against the decision 
taken by the Higher Regional Court (OLG) in Dusseldorf con-
cerning equity returns. Within the complaints procedure, the 
OLG previously overruled decisions taken by the BNetzA con-
cerning the rates of equity return for electricity/gas in the 3rd 
regulatory period. These are the rates of return that operators 
of electricity and gas grids are permitted to generate on the 
equity they invest in grids. The OLG believed the BNetzA had 
failed to take adequate account of current market risks when 
determining the level of the market risk premium. The BNetzA 
had therefore been called on by the OLG to set new rates that 
accounted for the legal opinion of the court. MVV’s grid com-
panies were and are involved in the court proceedings. 
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Market climate and competition

German economy continues to grow
In their autumn survey, experts at Germany’s leading economic 
research institutes forecast GDP growth of 1.7 % for the 2018 
calendar year. The pace of growth has thus slowed compared 
with the previous year. Growth in 2018 is being driven above 
all by the domestic economy, which has been stimulated by the 
sharp rise in employment totals and low interest rates.

Increase in electricity generation in Germany
In November 2018, the Association of the German Energy and 
Water Industries (BDEW) published its estimates of gross 
electricity generation in Germany. A total of 479.8 billion kWh 
of electricity was generated in the 1st nine months of 2018, 
corresponding to an increase of around 5 % on the previous 
year’s period (455.2 billion kWh).

Renewables share of German electricity generation 
rises to 35 %
According to BDEW estimates, the share of gross electricity 
generation in Germany accounted for by renewable energies 
totalled 35 % in the 1st nine months of 2018 calendar year – 
up from 34 % in the previous year’s period. This growth was 
particularly due to onshore wind turbines, which increased their 
electricity generation volumes by 13 %. Generation volumes  
at offshore wind turbines rose by 10 %. Electricity generation 
volumes at photovoltaics systems grew year-on-year by 16 %. 
Biomass and biogenic municipal waste were used to generate 
1 % more electricity than one year earlier. In total, around  
169 billion kWh of electricity was generated from renewable 
energies.

Ongoing strong expansion in wind power
In March 2018, the German Wind Energy Association (BWE) 
published its “Wind Energy Fact Sheet Germany” for the 2017 
calendar year. Overall, 6,584 MW of wind power capacity  
was newly installed in Germany, of which 5,334 MW onshore. 
Total installed wind power capacities therefore amounted  
to 56,154 MW, 13 % up on the previous year’s figure.
 
Gross onshore wind power capacity totalling 1,626 MW was 
added in Germany in the 1st half of the 2018 calendar year, 29 % 
less than in the previous year’s period. This calculation includes 
capacities of 297 MW added by repowering turbines.
 

GDP GROWTH IN GERMANY
(%)

1 Calendar year

Source: Forecast in autumn survey of leading German economic research institutes  
(September 2018)
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 2018
  Electricity from renewable energies 35

  Wind power 16
  Photovoltaics  8
   Biomass, including 

biogenic municipal waste 8
  Water 3

 Lignite 23
 Hard coal 13
 Natural gas 12
 Nuclear energy 12
 Other 5

 1
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Positive market expectations for our growth fields
Turning the electricity turnaround into an energy turnaround 
will require fundamental changes to be made in the heating 
energy and transport sectors. In this context, the dena study 
“Integrated Energy Transition” published in 2018 concludes 
that a cross-sectoral approach to reaching climate protection 
targets with a broad technological mix leads to lower trans-
formation costs than a decarbonisation course based on full 
electrification. The interaction between efficient, decentralised 
generation, smart consumption and storage of energy in ways 
that make sense, and that across all sectors, will play an ever 
more significant role. Against this backdrop, one ever more major 
focus is the cost-effective and customer-friendly provision of 
digital products and services. 

In BP’s “Energy Outlook 2018”, the experts forecast that global 
energy needs will rise by around a third by 2040, with the limit-
ing effect resulting from growing energy efficiency already 
factored into the calculation. According to the BP study, renew-
able energies generation will show the highest growth rates 
worldwide. Its share of total generation volumes is expected 
to quintuple by 2040. This development is benefiting in particu-
lar from the continuing improvement in the competitiveness 
of wind and solar power. 

A study published by the International Energy Agency in Novem-
ber 2017 reaches similar conclusions. According to this, global 
energy demand will rise by 30 % by 2040. Renewable energies 
are set to show by far the fastest growth worldwide. Here too, 
the rising competitiveness of renewable energies compared with 
conventional energy forms is referred to. In the previous year’s 
“World Energy Outlook 2016”, which focused on renewable 
energies, experts at the International Energy Agency forecast 
that average costs of photovoltaics would fall by a further 
40 % to 70 % by 2040, with the costs of onshore wind turbines 
falling by a further 10 % to 25 %. 

Almost 55,000 electric and plug-in hybrid vehicles were newly 
registered in 2017, more than twice the previous year’s figure. 
The total number of registered vehicles has therefore risen to 
nearly 100,000. According to a current forecast issued by the 
Center of Automotive Management, this trend will continue 
and the share of new car registrations with electric drive 
systems should rise to 5 % by 2020 and to 16 % by 2025. In 
parallel, the total number of charging points is rising across 
Germany. By the end of the 1st half of 2018, the Charging Point 
Register maintained by the Federal Network Agency included 
5,100 public charging points, of which more than 600 with 
fast charging capability.

In the long term, these trends will benefit our growth fields: 
our energy generation from renewable energies, our national 
and international project development and operations manage-
ment for renewable energies plants, our direct marketing of 
these plants, our decentralised heating and local heating supply 
systems and our innovative, smart energy efficiency solutions 
and service offerings for landlords and tenants, commercial 
businesses and industrial and private customers.

Increase in wholesale prices for fuels and electricity
Wholesale prices for fuels and electricity rose in the course of 
our year under report.

Listed prices for Brent crude oil for supply in the following month 
(front month) ranged from US$ 55.62 to US$ 82.72 per barrel 
in the 2018 financial year. At US$ 69.93, the average barrel price 
in the year under report was US$ 17.76 up on the previous 
year’s figure of US$ 52.17. Production cuts by OPEC and Russia 
took due effect from autumn 2017 and led to a sharp rise in 
oil prices. Additional upward price momentum resulted from 
a breakdown in the Forties pipeline system at the end of 2017. 
In spring and summer 2018, the oil price was exposed to at 
times intense fluctuations. These began with the announce-
ment of US sanctions against Iran and production bottlenecks 
in Venezuela, which led prices to surge to the US$ 80 per barrel 
mark. As the year progressed, the planned increase in produc-
tion by OPEC and Russia led prices to fall, as did the US tariff 
and trade disputes, particularly with China. Since then, the oil 
price has fluctuated around the US$ 80 per barrel mark, most 
recently with an upward trend.
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Natural gas prices for the front-year product in the NetConnect 
Germany (NCG) market region were listed at an average of Euro 
19.42/MWh in the year under report, Euro 2.40/MWh higher 
than in the previous year. Gas prices already tracked the rise in 
oil prices in the 4th quarter of 2017 and were also supported 
by slightly colder weather conditions and breakdowns in Nor-
way’s Upstream system. January, which was notably too mild, 
eased the situation at the beginning of 2018. As the year pro-
gressed, however, the gas price received strong new upward 
momentum from factors such as rising oil prices, lower produc-
tion volumes at the Dutch gas field in Groningen and a late cold 
spell at the end of February and in early March. This resulted in 
very low storage levels and correspondingly high refilling rates, 
a factor which has kept prices high overall since spring 2018. 
In the late summer, a marked rise in CO2 prices in particular 
and further maintenance work and breakdowns in Norway’s 
Upstream system led prices to rise sharply, a development 
that only slowed with the mild temperature forecasts issued 
at the beginning of autumn.

Coal prices maintained their upward trend in the 2018 financial 
year. Compared with the previous year, average front-year prices 
per tonne for hard coal in the ARA region (Amsterdam, Rotter-
dam, Antwerp) rose by US$ 16.43 to US$ 84.24. The key drivers 
of this rise were firmer oil prices and robust demand in Asia. 
Additional reasons for the worldwide increase in coal prices 
included the positive performance of the global economy, 
which involved strong demand for coal, and restrictions and 
delivery difficulties on the supply side.

In the year under report, prices for base load electricity for 
supply in the following year were driven both by fuel market 
trends and by political developments. With an average price of 
Euro 39.55/MWh, the front-year price rose by Euro 9.20/MWh 
in the year under report. Due to the talks held to explore the 
possibility of a coalition being formed between conservative, 
liberal and green parties, one of whose topics was the exit from 
coal in Germany, the contract was volatile at the beginning  
of the year under report. The front-year contract then tended 
slightly downwards in the 2nd quarter of our 2018 financial 
year. The dip in prices in mid-February 2018 was due to weak 
coal prices. As the year progressed, the cold spell in Europe 
and sharp rise in fuel and emissions prices led the front-year 
contract to rise further. 

The contract reached a temporary high in July and then briefly 
moved sideways before rising significantly. It reached a new 
high at Euro 56.65/MWh on 11 September 2018. The electricity 
market was driven by hot and dry weather conditions in the 
summer, as well as by strong fuel markets, and here in particu-
lar the emissions and coal markets.

Emission right prices per tonne of CO2 for supply in the fol-
lowing year averaged Euro 12.85 in the 2018 financial year, 
Euro 7.46 higher than in the previous year. In November 2017, 
the EU Commission, the European Council and the European 
Parliament reached agreement on the post-2020 reform of 
emissions trading. This provided positive momentum in the 
market and drove prices upwards. Prices on the emissions 
market more than tripled since the beginning of the 2018 
financial year, reaching a ten-year high of Euro 25.57 per tonne 
on 9 September 2018. This was then followed by a sharp cor-
rection, with the price per tonne settling at between Euro 20 
and Euro 23. Emissions prices continue to be supported by 
increased buying interest, some of which speculative, as well 
as by positive market sentiment.

The clean dark spread (CDS), i.e. the margin achieved from 
generating electricity from hard coal, initially showed positive 
developments in the 1st quarter of our year under report. After 
this, the spread lost ground and slid further into negative ter-
ritory, reaching its lowest price at Euro – 3.67/MWh on 1 June 
2018. These losses in the CDS were due to coal and emissions 
prices increasing more rapidly than electricity prices. From early 
June 2018, the CDS began to rise once more and regained 
positive territory in September. This in turn was due to what 
in relative terms was a sharper increase in electricity prices 
than in coal and emissions prices.
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MVV’s market position 
•	 67 % of all the electricity we generated in Germany in the 

2018 financial year was based on renewable energies. For 
Germany as a whole, renewable energies accounted for 35 % 
of gross electricity generation in the 1st nine months of the 
2018 calendar year. 

•	 With our subsidiaries Juwi and Windwärts, we are one of 
Germany’s leading renewable energies project developers.

•	 Directly marketing electricity from renewable energies in 
the market premium model also forms part of our portfolio. 
At the end of the year under report, we had renewable 
energies plants with total capacities of 4,266 MW under 
contract in Germany. This makes us one of the country’s 
largest direct marketers. 

•	 We are also one of the German market leaders when it 
comes to generating energy from biomass: In the 2018 
financial year, we operated 18 biomass and biogas plants 
in Germany. By acquiring the organic waste fermentation 
plant in Dresden we extended our portfolio and expanded 
our market position. Overall, these plants generated 315 
million kWh of electricity and 163 million kWh of heating 
energy. Furthermore, we generated 254 million kWh of 
biomethane at four biomethane plants. 

•	 Our grid companies in Germany have district heating grids 
with a total length of 1,154 kilometres. In the year under 
report, we generated district heating turnover of 5.9 billion 
kWh in Germany, making us the country’s second-largest 
district heating provider.

•	 We are one of Germany’s top three operators of energy 
from waste and biomass plants. Our German locations 
accepted a total of 1.7 million tonnes of waste and refuse- 
derived fuels for incineration in the 2018 financial year.

•	 In the Czech heating energy market, our subsidiary MVV 
Energie CZ a.s. operates at 15 locations, making us one of 
the market leaders there.

DEVELOPMENT IN WHOLESALE MARKET PRICES 
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Impact of weather conditions

Unusually mild weather in 2nd half of year
Lower outdoor temperatures lead to rising heating energy 
requirements at our customers. This is also reflected in higher 
degree day figures, which are referred to as an indicator of 
temperature-based heating energy use. Temperatures in the 
2nd half of our 2018 financial year were higher, at times signifi-
cantly so, than in the previous year. This led degree day figures 
at MVV to fall around 9 % short of the previous year. 

Higher wind volumes than in previous year
Just like our customers’ heating energy needs, electricity  
generation volumes at our renewable energies plants are  
also influenced by weather conditions. Wind volumes, which 
play a significant role in determining the volume of electric-
ity generated by our turbines, are particularly important in 
this respect.

Compared with the long-term average, the volume of usable 
wind power was higher in the 2018 financial year in Germany, 
and especially in regions relevant to our business. At 104 %, 
the usable wind yield was ahead of the previous year’s figure 
of 91 %. For this comparison, we draw on the “EMD-ConWx 
Mesoscale Wind Index“ with a reference period (20-year aver-
age). The 2018 series comprises the months from October 
2017 to August 2018. As the data for September was not yet 
available upon preparation of this report, we have assumed  
a variance to the reference period of 0 % for September.
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NON-FINANCIAL PERFORMANCE INDICATORS

MVV’s success as an energy supplier is measured not only in 
terms of its financial key figures. Non-financial performance 
indicators also play an important role in the sustainable devel-
opment of our company.

The comments in this section refer to all fully consolidated 
companies. At the same time, however, we also assume 
responsibility for the companies we recognise at equity and 
intend to report transparently on their non-financial perfor-
mance statistics as well. The corresponding information can 
be found in the Sustainability chapter.

Reduction in workforce
MVV had a total of 5,978 employees as of 30 September 2018 
and thus 84 fewer than at the previous year’s balance sheet 
date. This development was chiefly due to a reduction in staff 
totals at Juwi.

Personnel figures (headcount) at balance sheet date

 30 Sep 2018 30 Sep 2017 % change

MVV 1 5,978 6,062 –  1 

	 of which in Germany 5,137 5,227 –  2 

	 of which abroad 841 835 + 1 

1	 Including 312 trainees (previous year: 324) 

A total of 5,137 individuals worked for us in Germany, while our 
foreign subsidiaries had 841 employees. Of these, 502 worked 
at our Czech subgroup, 199 at Juwi’s international sharehold-
ings and 126 at the British subsidiaries of our environmental 
energy subsidiary MVV Umwelt.

Adjusted employee benefit expenses rose year-on-year by 1 % 
to Euro 422 million. This increase principally resulted from UK 
staff expansion at the beginning of the year under report due 
to the takeover of an energy from waste plant, as well from the 
first-time full consolidation of subsidiaries. By contrast, the 
reduction in staff totals mostly took place in the 2nd half of the 
past financial year.

Expansion in renewable energies generation  
portfolio progresses apace
We further expanded our electricity generation capacity from 
renewable energies including the biogenic share of waste/
refuse-derived fuels (RDF) in the year under report and now 
have installed capacities of 467 MWe. The new capacities added 
were due to the takeover of an energy from waste plant in 
Dundee/Scotland and the acquisition of an organic waste  
fermentation plant in Dresden. Moreover, Energieversorgung 
Offenbach launched operations with smaller-scale photo
voltaics systems. 

Installed capacity for renewable energies  
and biogenic share of waste/RDF 

MWe FY 2018 FY 2017 % change

Biomass and biogas plants 1 104 103 + 1 

Biogenic share of waste/RDF  161 151 + 7 

Wind power  196 196 0 

Hydroelectricity 2 2 0 

Photovoltaics 2 4 3 + 33 

Total 467 455 + 3 

1	 Including biomethane plants (previous year’s figure adjusted)
2	 Previous year’s figure adjusted

Our electricity generation volumes from renewable energies 
including the biogenic share of waste/RDF grew year-on-year by 
80 million kWh to 1,148 million kWh. As well as the additions 
to our generation capacities listed above, this increase was 
also due to high availability levels at our biomass power plant 
at Ridham Dock. 

Electricity generation volumes from renewable energies  
and biogenic share of waste/RDF 

kWh million FY 2018 FY 2017 % change

Biomass and biogas plants 498 432 + 15 

Biogenic share of waste/RDF 1 274 307 – 11 

Wind power 1  367 322 + 14 

Hydroelectricity  6 4 + 50  

Photovoltaics 3 3 0 

Total 1,148 1,068 + 7 

1	 Previous year’s figure adjusted
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Our wind turbines benefited from favourable wind conditions 
in the year under report and produced 45 million kWh more 
electricity than in the 2017 financial year.

Due to inspections and scheduled maintenance measures, 
electricity generation volumes at our plants powered by waste 
and refuse-derived fuels (biogenic share) fell by 33 million kWh 
compared with the previous year.

Increase in renewables share of our electricity generation
Overall, our total electricity generation volumes of 1,836 million 
kWh in the year under report fell 66 million kWh short of the 
previous year’s figure.

Electricity generation volumes

kWh million FY 2018 FY 2017 % change

Electricity from renewable  
energies and biogenic share  
of waste/RDF 1 1,148 1,068 + 7 

Electricity from CHP 1 501 548 – 9 

Other electricity generation 1  187  286 – 35 

Total 1,836 1,902 – 3 

1	 Previous year’s figures adjusted

We witnessed a significant reduction in other electricity gener-
ation, which fell by 99 million kWh in the year under report, a 
development mainly resulting from inspections and scheduled 
maintenance measures. Due above all to weather conditions, 
the volumes of electricity generated using combined heat and 
power (CHP) decreased by 47 million kWh. Overall, 63 % of our 
electricity generation volumes in the year under report were 
already attributable to renewable energies and the biogenic 
share of waste/RDF. In the previous year, this share amounted 
to 56 %.

Heating energy generation down on previous year
Due to minor portfolio adjustments, our heating energy gener-
ation capacity fell year-on-year by 101 MWt to 2,607 MWt.

Heating energy generation capacity 

MWt FY 2018 FY 2017 % change

Biomass and biogas plants 119 135 – 12 

Biogenic share of waste/RDF 682 682  0

Heating energy generation 
capacity from renewable  
energies 801 817 – 2 

Other plants 1,806 1,891 – 4 

Total 2,607 2,708 – 4 

Our heating energy volumes generated from the incineration 
of waste and refuse-derived fuels (biogenic share) were 97 mil-
lion kWH higher than in the previous year. This was because the 
lower volume of electricity coupled out at our non-recyclable 
waste incineration and energy generation plant in Leuna led to 
a higher volume of process steam being coupled out. 

Minor portfolio adjustments and mild weather conditions in 
particular nevertheless led the volume of heating energy gener-
ated to decrease by 214 million kWh to 3,890 million kWh.

Heating energy generation volumes

kWh million FY 2018 FY 2017 % change

Biomass and biogas plants 202 267 – 24 

Biogenic share of waste/RDF 1,851 1,754 + 6 

Heating energy generation 
from renewable energies  2,053 2,021 + 2 

Other plants 1,837 2,083 – 12 

Total 3,890 4,104 – 5 

Biomethane generation at around previous year’s level
At 30 MWhs, our biomethane generation capacity remained 
unchanged on the previous year. The volume of biomethane 
generated came to 254 million kWh in the year under report. 

Biomethane generation volumes

kWh million FY 2018 FY 2017 % change

Biomethane plants 254 261 – 3 
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Lower input of fossil fuels
Protecting fossil resources is an important aspect of our cor-
porate responsibility. To provide modern energy generation, 
we therefore work not only with fossil fuels, but also with 
waste and biomass. 

Fuels used at power plants 

 FY 2018 FY 2017 % change

Biomass (tonnes 000s) 602 514 + 17 

Biogenic share of waste/RDF 
(tonnes 000s) 1,889 1,810 + 4 

Natural gas (kWh million) 1,931 2,315 – 17

Hard coal (tonnes 000s) 78 88 – 11

Other fossil fuels (kWh million) 359 399  – 10

Due to the higher volumes of electricity and heating energy 
generated at our biomass power plants and our energy from 
waste plants respectively, the volume of fuels used at these 
plants also increased. By contrast, the year-on-year reduction 
in gas, hard coal and other fossil fuels reflects the lower volume 
of generation at our conventional power plants compared 
with the previous year.

CO2 emissions down on previous year
The CO2 emissions at our fully consolidated generation plants 
totalled 1,547,000 tonnes in the year under report, as against 
1,646,000 tonnes in the previous year. This fall in CO2 emissions 
was due to the reduction in our conventional electricity and 
heating energy generation.

Compared with the 2017 financial year, expenses for emission 
rights fell to Euro 203 thousand (previous year: Euro 6 million). 
Income from emission rights rose to Euro 3 million in the year 
under report (previous year: Euro 58 thousand).

PRESENTATION OF EARNINGS PERFORMANCE

The period under report is the 2018 financial year – starting 
on 1 October 2017 and ending on 30 September 2018. Unless 
otherwise indicated, the comments below refer to the MVV 
Energie Group (“MVV”), i.e. to all fully consolidated companies.

MVV

MVV

Euro million FY 2018 FY 2017 +/– change % change

Development in  
turnover     

Electricity (kWh million) 23,556  26,293 – 2,737 – 10 

Heating energy  
(kWh million) 6,598 6,917 – 319 – 5 

Gas (kWh million)  21,209 25,190 – 3,981 – 16 

Water (m³ million) 41.3 40.2 + 1.1 + 3 

Combustible waste 
delivered (tonnes 000s) 2,328 2,291 + 37  + 2

     

Sales excluding  
energy taxes 3,903 4,010  – 107 – 3 

	� of which  
electricity sales 2,095 2,147  – 52 – 2 

	� of which heating  
energy sales 359 371 – 12 – 3 

	 of which gas sales 548 648 – 100  – 15

	 of which water sales 87 87 0 0 

     

Adjusted EBIT 228 224 + 4 + 2 

The reduction in sales was primarily attributable to lower 
electricity and gas trading volumes. As a result, we were not 
quite able to meet our forecast of generating sales at around 
the same level as in the previous year.

Our adjusted EBIT performance in the past financial year was 
shaped by opposing extraordinary one-off items. On the one 
hand, the sales of the fibre optic networks at MVV Energie AG, 
which were not required for the energy supply, and of assets 
relating to multi-utility contracts at MVV ImmoSolutions gen-
erated positive earnings contributions. On the other hand, 
earnings were adversely affected by impairment losses recog-
nised on goodwill for Juwi and at MVV Enamic. These four 
one-off items virtually cancelled each other out.  
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Furthermore, the subsequent measurement of a company 
recognised at equity and resultant year-on-year reduction in 
income from companies recognised at equity impacted nega-
tively on earnings. That we nevertheless managed to meet 
our earnings target and slightly increase our adjusted EBIT to 
Euro 228 million was chiefly due to the positive performance 
of the environmental energy business, improved availability 
levels at our UK plants, higher revenues from wind turbines and 
the success of our measures to enhance cost efficiency. 

In the 2018 financial year, MVV generated 95 % of its consoli-
dated sales in Germany (previous year: 94 %), while 5 % of sales 
were generated abroad (previous year: 6 %).

SALES EXCLUDING ENERGY TAXES BY REGION
Shares (%)

 FY 2018
 Germany 95
 International 5
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SALES EXCLUDING ENERGY TAXES  
BY REPORTING SEGMENT
Shares (%)

 FY 2018
 Customer Solutions 72
 New Energies 19
 Supply Reliability  7
 Strategic Investments 2
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Customer Solutions reporting segment

Customer Solutions

Euro million FY 2018 FY 2017 1 +/– change % change

Development in  
turnover     

Electricity (kWh million) 22,958 25,564 – 2,606  – 10

Heating energy  
(kWh million) 4,742  5,106 – 364 – 7 

Gas (kWh million) 20,838 24,731 – 3,893 – 16 

Water (m³ million) 40.4 39.3 + 1.1 + 3

Combustible waste 
delivered (tonnes 000s) 160 212 – 52 – 25 

     

Sales excluding  
energy taxes 2,819 2,965 – 146 – 5 

     

Adjusted EBIT 47 43 +4 + 9 

1	 Pro forma statement; unaudited 

Mainly as result of lower trading volumes, electricity and gas 
turnover fell short of the previous year. The reduction in the 
electricity commodity was due to lower portfolio volumes,  
a decline in direct marketing volumes and lower balancing 
energy volumes. The downturn in gas trading volumes was 
largely due to more liquid markets and the associated lower 
level of portfolio turnover. The reduction in heating energy 
turnover was due on the one hand to weather conditions.  
On the other hand, it resulted from the sale of assets relating 
to multi-utility contracts at MVV ImmoSolutions and the  
termination of customer contracts.

The reduction in sales volumes is also reflected in lower sales.

The earnings performance of the Customer Solutions reporting 
segment was chiefly shaped by the positive one-off item result-
ing from the sale of assets relating to multi-utility contracts. 
By contrast, adjusted EBIT was held back by mild weather, 
whereas the previous year’s earnings had benefited from cold 
weather conditions. Earnings were also adversely affected by 
an impairment loss recognised on goodwill at MVV Enamic in 
the 4th quarter of the year under report. 

New Energies reporting segment

New Energies

Euro million FY 2018 FY 2017 1 +/– change % change

Development in  
turnover     

Electricity (kWh million) 416 454 – 38  – 8

Heating energy 
(kWh million) 1,151 1,037 + 114  + 11

Gas (kWh million)  254 260 – 6 – 2 

Combustible waste 
delivered (tonnes 000s) 2,064 1,963  + 101 + 5 

     

Sales excluding  
energy taxes 738 671 + 67 + 10 

     

Adjusted EBIT 90 87 + 3 +3 

1	 Pro forma statement; unaudited 

Our wind turbines benefited from favourable wind conditions 
and generated more electricity than in the 2017 financial year. 
This growth was nevertheless insufficient to compensate for 
the downturn in volumes in our environmental energy business 
in Germany, where electricity generation fell due to inspections 
and scheduled maintenance measures. Moreover, our non- 
recyclable waste incineration and energy generation plant in 
Leuna generated less electricity to enable a higher volume of 
process steam to be coupled out. That is also the main reason 
for the increase in heating energy turnover. The higher volume 
of combustible waste delivered was due above all to the take
over of the energy from waste plant in Dundee/Scotland in the 
1st quarter of the 2018 financial year.

The increase in sales was primarily due to the renewable  
energies project development business and to our environ-
mental energy business.

Segment earnings benefited from the positive performance  
of the environmental energy business, better availability levels 
at our UK plants and higher revenues from our wind turbines. 
Earnings were held back by the impairment loss recognised on 
goodwill for Juwi AG in the 2nd quarter of the year under report. 
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Supply Reliability reporting segment

Supply Reliability

Euro million FY 2018 FY 2017 1 +/– change % change

Sales excluding  
energy taxes 256 267 – 11 – 4 

     

Adjusted EBIT 62 68 – 6 – 9 

1	 Pro forma statement; unaudited

The reduction in sales was primarily due to the settlement  
of volume surpluses and shortfalls, which are balanced at the 
grids. The income is offset by reimbursements of the same 
amount to grid operators. These are recognised under cost of 
materials.

The sale at the beginning of the 2018 financial year of fibre 
optic networks not required for the energy supply at MVV 
Energie AG impacted positively on segment earnings. On the 
other hand, the subsequent measurement of a joint venture 
recognised at equity and resultant year-on-year reduction in 
income from companies recognised at equity led to an overall 
reduction in adjusted EBIT in the Supply Reliability reporting 
segment.

Strategic Investments reporting segment

Strategic Investments

Euro million FY 2018 FY 2017 +/– change % change

Development in  
turnover     

Electricity (kWh million) 181 275 – 94 – 34 

Heating energy 
(kWh million)  705 774 – 69 – 9 

Gas (kWh million) 117 199 – 82 – 41 

Water (m³ million) 0.9 0.9 0  0

Combustible waste 
delivered (tonnes 000s) 104 116 – 12 – 10 

     

Sales excluding  
energy taxes 87 104 – 17 – 16 

     

Adjusted EBIT 25 24 + 1 + 4 

Notwithstanding a reduction in sales, adjusted EBIT at Strate-
gic Investments remained almost unchanged on the previous 
year. This was due to the fact that weather-related charges on 
earnings were more than offset by reversals of provisions.

Other Activities reporting segment

Other Activities

Euro million FY 2018 FY 2017 +/– change % change

Sales excluding  
energy taxes 2 3 – 1 – 33 

     

Adjusted EBIT 4 2 + 2 + 100 

Adjusted EBIT amounted to Euro 4 million in the year under 
report.
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Reconciliation with adjusted EBIT
In the following table, we show how we reconcile the EBIT 
reported in the income statement for the 2018 financial year 
with the adjusted EBIT relevant for management purposes.

Reconciliation of EBIT (income statement) with adjusted EBIT  
from 1 October to 30 September

Euro million FY 2018 FY 2017 +/– change

EBIT as reported in  
income statement 257 259 – 2 

Financial derivatives  
measurement item – 31 – 39 + 8 

Structural adjustment for  
part-time early retirement 0 + 1 – 1 

Restructuring result – 1 – – 1

Interest income from finance leases  + 3  + 3 0 

Adjusted EBIT 228 224 + 4 

Development in key income statement items
The cost of materials    Notes to Income Statement (Note 5), 
Page 142 fell virtually in line with sales, decreasing by Euro 
121 million to Euro 2,958 million. 

Adjusted employee benefit expenses rose by Euro 4 million  
to Euro 422 million. This was due above all to an expansion  
in UK staff totals upon the takeover of an energy from waste 
plant at the beginning of the year under report, as well as to 
the first-time full consolidation of subsidiaries. By contrast, 
the reduction in staff totals mainly took place in the 2nd half 
of the past financial year.

Excluding IAS 39 measurement items, adjusted other operat-
ing income   Notes to Income Statement (Note 4), Page 141 
increased by Euro 39 million to Euro 154 million, with this 
being due above all to the sales of fibre optic networks at MVV 
Energie AG and of assets relating to multi-utility contracts at 
MVV ImmoSolutions. 
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Also excluding IAS 39 measurement items, adjusted other 
operating expenses    Notes to Income Statement (Note 7), 
Page 142 fell by Euro 15 million to Euro 227 million. As well  
as lower additions to write-downs and receivables defaults, 
this development was due lower expenses for emission rights. 

In the Income Statement    Page 125, IAS 39 measurement 
items are included under other operating income and other 
operating expenses. Their net balance resulted in a positive 
item of around Euro 31 million in the 2018 financial year. At 
Euro 39 million, this measurement item was also positive in 
the previous year. IAS 39 items reflect developments in market 
prices on the commodities and energy markets. IAS 39 meas-
urement has no impact on payments, neither does it affect 
our operating business or dividend.

At Euro 181 million, depreciation was approximately at the 
previous year’s level.

The goodwill writedowns    Notes to Income Statement 
(Note 14), Page 145 of Euro 34 million mainly relate to impair-
ment losses recognised on goodwill for Juwi and at MVV Enamic 
in the 2nd and 4th quarters of the year under report respectively.

The adjusted financial result, which benefited in particular 
from lower loan interest expenses, improved by Euro 7 million 
to Euro – 49 million.

Net of the adjusted financial result, the adjusted EBT of  
Euro 179 million for the 2018 financial year was higher than 
in the previous year (Euro 169 million).

Adjusted annual net income only reflects the improvement 
in adjusted EBT to a limited extent. This key figure showed a 
proportionately lower increase of Euro 4 million and came to 
Euro 111 million in the year under report. This resulted from 
an increase in adjusted taxes on income to Euro 68 million 
(previous year: Euro 62 million), a development due to a dis-
crepancy between tax-effective earnings growth and one-off 
items with no tax effect. Overall, this produced a higher tax 
rate. The one-off items related in particular to impairment 
losses recognised on goodwill.

Adjusted minority interests rose year-on-year by Euro 2 million 
to Euro 16 million. Adjusted annual net income after minority 
interests showed a slight increase to Euro 94 million (previous 
year: Euro 93 million). On this basis, adjusted earnings per share 
amounted to Euro 1.43 (previous year: Euro 1.41). The number 
of shares was unchanged at 65.9 million.
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PRESENTATION OF NET ASSET POSITION

Balance sheet structure

Euro 000s 30 Sep 2018 30 Sep 2017 % change

Assets    

Non-current assets 3,493,137 3,326,098 + 5 

Current assets 1,646,844 1,386,790 + 19 

Total assets 5,139,981 4,712,888 + 9 

Equity and debt    

Equity 1,625,214 1,521,102 + 7 

Non-current debt 1,922,200 1,976,154 – 3 

Current debt 1,592,567 1,215,632 + 31 

Total assets 5,139,981 4,712,888 + 9 

Balance sheet development
Total assets came to Euro 5,140 million at the balance sheet 
date and were thus Euro 427 million higher than the figure 
reported as of 30 September 2017   Balance Sheet, Page 126. 

On the asset side, non-current assets  rose by Euro 167 million 
to Euro 3,493 million. Significant changes chiefly arose in 
non-current other receivables and assets    Notes to Balance 
Sheet (Note 21), Page 155. Mainly as a result of measurement 
items for energy trading transactions, this line item rose by 
Euro 120 million to Euro 309 million. Furthermore, property, 
plant and equipment increased by Euro 69 million to Euro 
2,588 million, with this mainly being due to advance payments 
and construction in progress. Alongside the construction of 
the gas-powered CHP plant in Kiel and a new energy from waste 
plant in Dundee/Scotland, these also included the linking up 
of our waste-powered CHP plant in Mannheim to the city’s 
district heating grid. This increase was countered by intangible 
assets which, at Euro 316 million, fell Euro 29 million short  
of the previous year’s figure. This reduction was mainly due  
to impairment losses recognised on goodwill for Juwi and at 
MVV Enamic. 

Current assets grew by Euro 260 million to Euro 1,647 million. 
The increase in current other receivables and assets    Notes 
to Balance Sheet (Note 21), Page 155 by Euro 423 million (pre
vious year: Euro 343 million) was chiefly due to measurement 
items for energy trading transactions. Inventories decreased by 
Euro 121 million to Euro 161 million, a development due above 
all to lower advance payments and a reduction in finished and 
unfinished products and services (project rights). Cash and cash 
equivalents   Notes to Balance Sheet (Note 25), Page 157 also 
decreased, in this case to Euro 311 million as of the balance 
sheet date (previous year: Euro 370 million). This was due  
above all to the outflow of funds for major projects and loan 
repayments.

We further strengthened our equity in the year under report 
  Notes to Balance Sheet (Note 27), Page 158. This increased 

by Euro 104 million and, including non-controlling interests, 
amounted to Euro 1,625 million at the balance sheet date. 

BALANCE SHEET STRUCTURE
Euro million, shares (%)

6,000

5,000

4,000

3,000

2,000

1,000

0
Equity 

and debt  
FY 2017

Assets
  Non-current assets
 Current assets

Equity and debt
  Equity
 Non-current debt
 Current debt

Assets  
FY 2018

71

29

Equity 
and debt  
FY 2018

32

26

42

Assets  
FY 2017

68

32

32

31

37

Presentation of Net Asset Position | Group Business Performance | COMBINED MANAGEMENT REPORT

92

Annual Report 2018 | MVV



For Group management purposes, we adjust our consolidated 
balance sheet as of 30 September 2018 to eliminate cumula-
tive IAS 39 measurement items. On the asset side, we eliminate 
positive fair values of derivatives and allocable deferred taxes, 
which amounted to Euro 988 million (30 September 2017: 
Euro 465 million). On the equity and debt side, we eliminate 
negative fair values and allocable deferred taxes, here Euro 
912 million, from debt (30 September 2017: Euro 434 million). In 
equity, we eliminate the net balance of Euro 76 million (30 Sep-
tember 2017: Euro 31 million). This led to adjusted equity of 
Euro 1,550 million as of 30 September 2018 (30 September 
2017: Euro 1,490 million). As a percentage of the adjusted total 
assets of Euro 4,153 million (30 September 2017: Euro 4,248 
million), the adjusted equity ratio came to 37.3 % as of 30 Sep-
tember 2018 as against 35.1 % as of 30 September 2017.

Non-current debt decreased to Euro 1,922 million, down Euro 
54 million compared with the previous year’s balance sheet 
date. Due above all to loan repayments, non-current financial 
debt    Notes to Balance Sheet (Note 30), Page 164 fell by Euro 
136 million to Euro 1,163 million. By contrast, non-current 
other liabilities    Notes to Balance Sheet (Note 31), Page 165 
rose by Euro 94 million to Euro 404 million. This development 
chiefly resulted from the year-on-year increase in the value of 
derivative financial instruments. This value rose due to reali
sation and the higher level of market prices, which increased 
the fair values of energy trading transactions recognised 
under IAS 39.

Current debt rose by Euro 377 million to Euro 1,593 million. 
This development was significantly influenced by current 
other liabilities    Notes to Balance Sheet (Note 31), Page 165 
which, due above all to IAS 39 measurement items, grew by 
Euro 287 million to Euro 835 million. There was a reduction, 
by contrast, in advance payments received. Primarily as a 
result of higher liabilities to banks, current financial debt 

  Notes to Balance Sheet (Note 30), Page 164 rose by Euro 74 
million to Euro 223 million. 

Investments
We invested a total of Euro 290 million in the 2018 financial 
year (previous year: Euro 194 million). We invested Euro 166 
million (57 %) in our existing plants and grids and channelled 
Euro 124 million (43 %) into growth investments. 

Investments

Euro million FY 2018 FY 2017 +/– change % change

Customer Solutions 30 25 + 5 + 20 

New Energies  81 21 + 60 > + 100 

Supply Reliability  157 129 + 28 + 22 

Strategic Investments  11 7 + 4 + 57 

Other Activities 11 12 – 1 – 8 

Total  290 194  + 96 + 50 

	 �of which growth 
investments 124 64 + 60 + 94 

	 �of which investments 
in existing business 166 130 + 36 + 28 

Our largest investment projects in the 2018 financial year 
included:

•	 Takeover of an energy from waste plant and construction 
of a new CHP plant in Dundee/Scotland

•	 Construction of the gas-powered CHP plant in Kiel
•	 Takeover of an organic waste fermentation plant in Dresden
•	 Connection of the CHP plant in Mannheim to the city’s  

district heating grid
•	 Measures to maintain and renew our distribution grids
•	 Measures to expand and increase the density of our district 

heating grids.

INVESTMENTS
Shares (%)

 FY 2018
  Investments  

in existing business 57
  Growth investments 43
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PRESENTATION OF FINANCIAL POSITION

By repaying liabilities to banks and other lenders, we reduced 
our current and non-current financial debt by Euro 62 million 
in the year under report. As of 30 September 2018, these items 
totalled Euro 1,386 million as against Euro 1,448 million at the 
previous year’s balance sheet date. Net financial debt (current 
and non-current financial debt less cash and cash equivalents) 
fell by Euro 2 million to Euro 1,075 million.

After the elimination of non-cash income and expenses, as well 
as of the non-operating result, the slight increase in earnings 
before taxes on income (EBT) led to a cash flow before working 
capital and taxes of Euro 450 million.

The year-on-year reduction in the cash flow from operating 
activities by Euro 142 million was due to lower inflows of funds 
from changes in other asset and liability items. The largest 
items related to a more marked increase in receivables, the  

change in prepayments received on orders for projects to be 
implemented and the sharp reduction in inventories. 

The development in the cash flow from investing activities was 
shaped by the higher outflow of funds for investments – and 
in particular for the construction of the new heat and power 
plant in Dundee/Scotland in conjunction with the takeover of 
an existing energy from waste plant and for the new Küsten
kraftwerk K.I.E.L. power plant. The high inflow of funds from 
sales of other financial assets in the previous year, which was 
not matched by any equivalent items in the current financial 
year, also reduced the cash flow from investing activities when 
compared with the previous year’s figure. This factor was mainly 
countered by the inflow of funds from sales of non-current 
assets. Overall, the cash flow from investing activities fell year- 
on-year by Euro 47 million.

The cash flow from financing activities increased by Euro 92 
million compared with the 2017 financial year, a development 
chiefly due to higher net borrowing.

Cash flow before  
working capital and taxes

Cash flow from 
operating activities

Cash flow from 
investing activities

Cash flow from 
financing activities

Cash and cash equivalents 
at 30 September

474
331

– 271

311
370

CASH FLOW STATEMENT
Euro million

– 212
– 165

400– 200 100 500300– 300 – 100 200

 FY 2017    FY 2018

438
450

– 179

0
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Professional financial management
Our good access to the capital markets means that we have no 
difficulty in covering MVV’s liquidity requirements. We benefit 
in this respect from our strong creditworthiness, our diversified 
business portfolio and our corporate strategy, which focuses 
on generating sustainable and profitable growth. MVV has 
very strong liquidity resources in the form of cash and cash 
equivalents and credit lines at banks, the volumes and terms 
of which we further expanded in the past financial year. 

Our repayment profile still does not show any significant spikes 
in the years ahead. 

MVV Energie AG manages a cash pool for itself and 33 other 
companies within our Group. In this capacity, it manages, pro-
cures and secures both its own short-term liquidity and that 
of the subsidiaries connected to the pool. Long-term financing 
required for investments is provided to the subsidiaries in the 
form of shareholder loans.

Rating
MVV is not assessed by any rating agencies. In the rating talks 
we hold with our core banks, however, we regularly receive 
feedback concerning our creditworthiness. Based on this 
information, we assume that MVV continues to be classified 
at stable investment grade level.

REPAYMENT PROFILE
Euro million

 Promissory note loans   Loans
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Notes to Annual Financial Statements  
of MVV Energie AG (HGB)

As the publicly listed parent company of the MVV Energie Group 
(“MVV”), MVV Energie AG prepares its annual financial state-
ments in accordance with the requirements of the German 
Commercial Code (HGB) and the supplementary requirements 
of the German Stock Corporation Act (AktG) and the German 
Energy Industry Act (EnWG). The consolidated financial state-
ments of MVV Energie AG are prepared in accordance with 
International Financial Reporting Standards (IFRS) in the form 
requiring application in the EU. Unlike in the HGB separate 
financial statements, in the consolidated financial statements 
income and expenses at consolidated subsidiaries are included 
in individual income and expense items in the consolidated 
income statement. Further differences between the separate 
financial statements of MVV Energie AG and the consolidated 
financial statements relate in particular to differences between 
the requirements of commercial law and those of IFRS inter-
national accounting standards in terms of the recognition and 
measurement of individual items.

The annual financial statements of MVV Energie AG, MVV’s 
consolidated financial statements and the combined manage-
ment report for the 2018 financial year are published in the 
Federal Gazette (Bundesanzeiger). The complete 2018 annual 
financial statements of MVV Energie AG can be downloaded 
from our website    www.mvv.de/investors, as can the con-
solidated financial statements and the combined manage-
ment report.

Presentation of earnings performance  
of MVV Energie AG

Income statement of MVV Energie AG

Euro 000s FY 2018 FY 2017

Sales 2,246,218 2,315,791 

less electricity and natural gas taxes − 124,598 − 123,786 

Sales less electricity and natural gas taxes 2,121,620 2,192,005 

Increase or reduction in finished  
and unfinished products 0 − 2,582 

Other own work capitalised  1,730 1,990 

Other operating income 44,105 35,777 

Cost of materials 1,880,426 1,953,231 

Employee benefit expenses 75,398 78,823 

Depreciation and amortisation 19,901 21,313 

Other operating expenses 98,108 108,687 

Financial result 66,901 57,627

Taxes on income  46,082 30,701 

Earnings after taxes 114,441 92,062

Other taxes 456 446

Annual net income 113,985 91,616

Allocation to other revenue reserves 54,669 32,300 

Unappropriated net profit 59,316 59,316

Due above all to lower electricity and gas turnover in the 
Commodities Solutions business field, sales excluding energy 
taxes at MVV Energie AG fell by Euro 70 million to Euro 2,122 
million in the 2018 financial year. These sales were generated 
exclusively in Germany. As a result, MVV Energie AG was thus 
not quite able to meet its forecast of generating sales at the 
previous year’s level. As in the previous year, the electricity 
business accounted for 75 % of total sales and thus remained 
the strongest division in terms of sales at MVV Energie AG. 

At Euro 1,880 million, cost of materials was Euro 73 million 
lower than in the previous year. The change in this item largely 
reflected the development in sales. Furthermore, due to rein-
statement requirements a write-up was recognised on raw 
materials and supplies.

Other operating income rose by Euro 8 million. This increase 
was chiefly due to the sale in the year under report of the fibre 
optic networks not required for the energy supply. This item 
was opposed by a lower volume of reversals of provisions com-
pared with the previous year.

Business Performance of MVV Energie AG
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As of 30 September 2018, MVV Energie AG had 881 employees, 
28 fewer than at the previous year’s balance sheet date. Due 
to this reduction, as well as to lower allocation requirements 
for actuarial provisions, employee benefit expenses fell year-
on-year by Euro 3 million to Euro 75 million.

At Euro 20 million, depreciation and amortisation was slightly 
lower than in the previous year. No impairment losses were 
recognised on non-current assets in the year under report or 
the previous year.

Other operating expenses decreased by Euro 11 million to 
Euro 98 million in the 2018 financial year. Material items here 
related to lower write-downs of receivables and a reduction  
in public relations expenses. 

The financial result improved year-on-year by Euro 9 million to 
Euro 67 million. Items positively affecting this figure related 
above all to higher income from profit and loss transfer agree-
ments and from shareholdings and lower expenses for the 
assumption of losses. By contrast, the financial result was 
reduced in particular by higher write-downs of financial assets.

Earnings after taxes improved by Euro 22 million to Euro 114 
million. Net of other taxes, MVV Energie AG generated annual 
net income of Euro 114 million in the 2018 financial year (pre-
vious year: Euro 92 million). The development in annual net 
income was mainly influenced by one-off items: the sale of 
fibre optic networks, the write-up of raw materials and sup-
plies due to reinstatement requirements and the write-down 
of goodwill at MVV Enamic. As a result, we exceeded our fore-
cast of generating a significant increase in annual net income. 
Based on the profit utilisation resolution adopted by the Annual 
General Meeting on 9 March 2018, the unappropriated net 
profit of Euro 59.3 million was fully distributed to the share-
holders of MVV Energie AG. The dividend amounted to Euro 
0.90 per share.

Revenue reserves of Euro 54,669 thousand were formed from 
the annual net income for the year under report. As of 30 Sep-
tember 2018, MVV Energie AG reported unappropriated net 
profit of Euro 59 million. The Annual General Meeting will be 
held on 8 March 2019 and will decide on the dividend proposal 
adopted by the Executive and Supervisory Boards on 7 Decem-
ber 2018.

 

Presentation of net asset and financial position  
of MVV Energie AG

Balance sheet of MVV Energie AG

Euro 000s 30 Sep 2018 30 Sep 2017

Assets   

	 Non-current assets   

	 Intangible assets 612 634 

	 Property, plant and equipment  387,552 368,073 

	 Financial assets 1,461,449 1,439,688 

 1,849,613 1,808,395 

	 Current assets   

	 Inventories 30,252 14,191 

	� Receivables and other assets 316,834 284,482 

	 Cash and cash equivalents 79,048 193,379 

 426,134 492,052 

	 Deferred expenses and accrued income 595 569 

 2,276,342 2,301,016

Equity and debt   

	 Equity   

	 Share capital 168,721 168,721 

	 Capital reserve 458,946 458,946 

	 Revenue reserves 434,591 379,922

	 Unappropriated net profit 59,316 59,316

 1,121,574 1,066,905

	 Income grants received 45,067 44,516 

	 Provisions 109,803 97,250

	 Liabilities 999,898 1,092,345 

 2,276,342 2,301,016

Total assets decreased year-on-year by Euro 25 million to  
Euro 2,276 million. 

The asset side of the balance sheet is largely shaped by financial 
assets. As of September 2018, these totalled Euro 1,461 million, 
equivalent to a 64 % share of total assets. The equivalent figures 
for the previous year were Euro 1,440 million and 63 % respec-
tively. The increase in financial assets by Euro 22 million was 
due above all to additions to the capital reserve at associates. 
This factor was countered by write-downs recognised at MVV 
Enamic and on loans. Property, plant and equipment rose 
year-on-year by Euro 19 million to Euro 388 million. This was 
chiefly due to investments made in connection with linking 
the CHP plant on Friesenheimer Insel to Mannheim’s district 
heating grid.
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Current assets decreased to Euro 426 million, down Euro 66 
million compared with 30 September 2017, with this being 
primarily due to a Euro 114 million reduction in cash and cash 
equivalents. The decrease in cash and cash equivalents was in 
turn mainly due to the reduction in financial debt and to the 
fact that MVV Energie AG expanded its financing function for 
group companies in the year under report. By contrast, chiefly 
as a result of higher receivables due from associates trade 
receivables and other assets rose by Euro 32 million. 

The company increased its equity by Euro 55 million in the year 
under report. Equity thus amounted to Euro 1,122 million at 
the balance sheet date. At 49.3 %, the equity ratio as of 30 Sep-
tember 2018 was slightly higher than the previous year’s figure 
of 46.4 % and reflected the solid equity resources available at 
MVV Energie AG.

Mainly as a result of higher tax provisions, the provisions line 
item rose by Euro 13 million to Euro 110 million, while liabilities 
fell by Euro 92 million to Euro 1,000 million. This reduction was 
attributable in particular to lower liabilities to banks, lower 
advance payments received for orders and lower trade payables. 

MVV Energie AG performs the financing function for MVV’s 
associates. In this capacity, it safeguards the operating liquidity 
of numerous companies and supplies these with the long-term 
capital necessary for investments in the form of shareholder 
loans. An adequate volume of committed credit lines is available 
to secure liquidity. 

2018 activity statements
With its 2018 activity statements, MVV Energie AG has met its 
reporting obligations pursuant to § 6b of the German Electricity 
and Gas Supply Act (German Energy Industry Act – EnWG). Con-
sistent with § 6b of this act, in our internal financial reporting 
we maintain separate accounts for the activities of electricity 
and gas distribution, for other activities within the electricity 
and gas sectors and for other activities outside the electricity 
and gas sectors. Furthermore, we also prepare balance sheets 
and income statements for our electricity and gas distribution 
activities. 

Electricity distribution
The electricity distribution activity field reported sales of Euro 46 
million in the year under report (previous year: Euro 47 million). 
At Euro 48 million, gross performance for the 2018 financial 
year was at the previous year’s level. Measured in terms of 
total electricity sector sales of Euro 1.6 billion (previous year: 
Euro 1.7 billion), sales in the electricity distribution activity field 
are of subordinate significance. Alongside income from the 
leasing of its electricity grids to MVV Netze GmbH, earnings  
in the electricity distribution activity field also include income 
from concession duties. MVV Netze GmbH manages and oper-
ates the distribution facilities and grids at MVV Energie AG 
and is responsible for their maintenance. Other operating 
income resulting from the charging on of the concession duty to 
MVV Netze GmbH through to 30 September 2018 was opposed 
by corresponding other operating expenses. Electricity distri-
bution generated annual net income of Euro – 1 million in  
the 2018 financial year (previous year: annual net income of 
Euro – 2 million).

As of 30 September 2018, total assets in the electricity distri-
bution activity field came to Euro 126 million (previous year: 
Euro 130 million). This corresponds to a 37 % share of total 
assets in the electricity sector at MVV Energie AG (previous 
year: 41 %). Property, plant and equipment relating to electric-
ity distribution hardly changed compared with the previous 
year’s balance sheet date. At Euro 113 million (previous year: 
Euro 112 million), this item accounted for a 90 % share of total 
electricity distribution assets (previous year: 86 %). Receivables 
from associates mainly involve receivables due from MVV Netze 
GmbH. On the equity and liabilities side, electricity distribution 
liabilities fell from Euro 62 million to Euro 42 million.
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Gas distribution
The gas distribution activity field reported sales of Euro 28 mil-
lion in the year under report (previous year: Euro 31 million). 
Gross performance fell by Euro 3 million in the 2018 financial 
year. When compared with total gas sector sales of Euro 217 
million (previous year: Euro 226 million), the gas distribution 
activity field is of subordinate significance. By analogy with 
electricity distribution, as well as income from the leasing of 
its grids to MVV Netze GmbH earnings in the gas distribution 
activity field also include income from concession duties. As 
of 30 September 2018, other operating income from charging 
on the concession duty to MVV Netze GmbH was opposed by 
corresponding other operating expenses. The gas distribution 
activity field generated annual net income of Euro 8 million  
in the year under report (previous year: Euro 12 million).

At the balance sheet date on 30 September 2018, total assets 
in the gas distribution activity field came to Euro 97 million 
(previous year: Euro 94 million) and accounted for some 74 % 
of total assets in the gas sector at MVV Energie AG (previous 
year: 73 %). At Euro 88 million, property, plant and equipment 
in gas distribution was Euro 4 million higher than in the pre
vious year and corresponded to a 91 % share of total assets in 
this activity field (previous year: 90 %). Receivables from asso-
ciates mainly involve receivables due from MVV Netze GmbH. 
On the equity and liabilities side, gas distribution liabilities 
increased from Euro 14 million to Euro 31 million.

Corporate Governance Declaration (§ 289f HGB)

Publicly listed companies are obliged under § 289f of the Ger-
man Commercial Code (HGB) to submit a Corporate Governance 
Declaration. In this, they report on their latest Declaration of 
Conformity with the German Corporate Governance Code 
pursuant to § 161 of the German Stock Corporation Act (AktG) 
and on corporate governance practices applied over and above 
legal requirements. Furthermore, they report on the mode of 
operation of the Executive and Supervisory Boards, on the com-
position and mode of operation of the Supervisory Board com-
mittees and on the equal participation of women and men  
in management positions.

We published the Corporate Governance Declaration together 
with the Declaration of Conformity as one component of our 
Corporate Governance Report, which was published on our 
website    www.mvv.de/corporate-governance on 5 Novem-
ber 2018 and is also presented on    Page 101.

Declaration pursuant to § 312 AktG

The Executive Board has compiled a report on relationships with 
associates for the 2018 financial year (“dependent company 
report”) pursuant to § 312 AktG. In this report, it states: “MVV 
Energie AG received commensurate compensation for each of 
the transactions listed in its report on relationships with the 
City of Mannheim and associates based on the circumstances 
known to the Executive Board at the time at which the trans-
actions were performed.”

Non-Financial Report (§ 315b and § 315c 
in conjunction with § 289c to e HGB)

MVV Energie AG is obliged for the first time to publish a non- 
financial declaration on company and Group level for the 2018 
financial year. The non-financial declaration has been compiled 
jointly for MVV Energie AG and the MVV Energie Group (“MVV”) 
as a Combined Separate Non-Financial Report. This can be 
found in the Sustainability chapter of the 2018 Annual Report 
and has been disclosed together with the Combined Manage-
ment Report. 
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For MVV, high-quality corporate governance, i.e. managing 
and supervising the company’s activities in accordance with 
the principles of responsible and sustainable value creation, is 
an objective we pursue in all of its facets and across all areas 
of our company. Basic features of our corporate governance 
include trust-based cooperation between the Executive and 
Supervisory Boards and among the company’s employees, 
consideration of the interests of all stakeholders, transparent 
reporting and corporate communications and compliance with 
all applicable laws. We view high-quality corporate governance 
as an indispensable basis for ensuring a relationship of trust 
with our shareholders, customers, business partners, employees 
and the general public.

In what follows, the Executive and Supervisory Boards report 
on corporate governance at MVV Energie AG in accordance 
with Point 3.10 of the German Corporate Governance Code. 
We combine this with our Corporate Governance Declaration 
pursuant to § 289f of the German Commercial Code (HGB); 
this contains disclosures on our corporate governance practices 
and the Declaration of Conformity with the German Corporate 
Governance Code required by § 161 of the German Stock  
Corporation Act (AktG).

REPORT OF EXECUTIVE AND 
SUPERVISORY BOARDS

The Executive and Supervisory Boards dealt extensively with 
corporate governance at our company once again in the 2018 
financial year. Like in previous years, in the period under report 
MVV Energie AG complied with all of the Code’s recommen
dations. The same applies with just one exception to the  
suggestions made in the Code. Point 2.3.3 of the Code suggests 
that shareholders should have the possibility of watching the 
entire Annual General Meeting via communication channels 
such as the internet. We merely broadcast the introductory 
words by the meeting chairman and the presentation by the 
CEO live on our website at    www.mvv.de/investors, where 
we also publish a corresponding video subsequent to the 
Annual General Meeting.

Shareholders and Annual General Meeting
Shareholders in MVV Energie AG exercise their voting and 
control rights at the Annual General Meeting. Each shareholder 
is entitled to participate in the Annual General Meeting if  
he or she registers within the relevant deadline and satisfies 
the conditions for participating in the meeting and exercising 
voting rights. Shareholders may make statements on all agenda 
items at the meeting and submit relevant questions and 
motions. For voting purposes, each share entitles its holder  
to one vote. Shareholders may participate in the adoption  
of all resolutions by casting their votes before or during the 
meeting. In this respect, shareholders can draw on a range of 
options – they can vote in person or have their votes cast by  
a proxy of their choice. Alternatively, they may be represented 
by a voting proxy appointed by MVV Energie AG to act in line 
with their instructions, a bank or a shareholders’ association. 
Furthermore, shareholders may also submit their votes by 
post in advance of the Annual General Meeting. To do so, they 
are required to register within a specified deadline. 

In line with the requirements of stock corporation law, we 
publish all documents relating to the Annual General Meeting 
on our website at   www.mvv.de/investors. These particu-
larly include the invitation to the meeting and all reports and 
information necessary for the respective resolutions.

Transparent communications
We attach great priority to informing all stakeholders of  
MVV Energie AG about significant matters of current relevance 
and about the company’s situation. This information, which  
is provided promptly, comprehensively and in a way which 
ensures equal treatment of all stakeholders, is published in our 
PR activities and on our websites – and here in particular 

  www.mvv.de and    www.mvv.de/investors. We always 
meet our reporting obligations under the German Stock  
Corporation Act (AktG), the German Commercial Code (HGB) 
and the German Securities Trading Act (WpHG).

Corporate Governance
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Disclosures on auditor 
The Annual General Meeting of MVV Energie AG on 9 March 
2018 elected PricewaterhouseCoopers GmbH Wirtschafts
prüfungsgesellschaft (PwC) as auditor for the 2018 financial 
year. Prior to this, the Supervisory Board convinced itself  
of the auditor’s independence. PwC has acted as auditor to  
MVV Energie AG and as group auditor for the consolidated 
financial statements since the 2009 financial year. We comply 
with the statutory requirements resulting from the Audit  
Regulation (Regulation (EU) No. 537/2014) and from § 316  
et seq. HGB. These concern the selection, appointment and 
rotation of the auditor and of the individuals responsible  
for the actions of such, as well as the commissioning of 
non-audit services.

Reporting and audit of financial statements
The annual financial statements of MVV Energie AG are  
prepared on the basis of the German Commercial Code (HGB). 
The consolidated financial statements and interim financial 
statements are prepared in accordance with International 
Financial Reporting Standards (IFRS) in the form requiring 
application in the European Union. We present the situation 
of the MVV Energie Group and of MVV Energie AG in a com-
bined management report. 

The auditor audits the annual financial statements of  
MVV Energie AG as prepared by the Executive Board. Once 
they have been discussed by the Audit Committee, these 
financial statements are examined, approved and adopted by 
the Supervisory Board. The consolidated financial statements 
are also prepared by the Executive Board, audited by the  
auditor and discussed in detail by the Audit Committee  
before being submitted to the Supervisory Board for its own 
review and approval. In its audit of the financial statements, 
PwC also audits the combined management report and the 
early-warning risk identification system. 

The quarterly statements for the 1st quarter and the 1st nine 
months are prepared by the Executive Board and discussed with 
the Audit Committee prior to publication, as is the half-year 
financial report. These publications are not subject to any audit 
review requirement.

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE DECLARATION 
WITH DECLARATION OF CONFORMITY

We published the following Corporate Governance Declaration 
on our website at    www.mvv.de/investors on 5 Novem-
ber 2018 and thus satisfied the requirements of § 289f HGB.

Declaration of Conformity with the  
German Corporate Governance Code (§ 161 AktG)

The Executive and Supervisory Boards adopted the following 
Declaration of Conformity with the German Corporate  
Governance Code in September 2018:

The Executive and Supervisory Boards of MVV Energie AG 
hereby declare that the company has complied and continues 
to comply with the recommendations of the German Corpo-
rate Governance Code Government Commission in the version 
of the Code dated 7 February 2017, which was published  
in the Federal Gazette on 24 April 2017 and republished in 
corrected form in the Federal Gazette on 19 May 2017.

Compliance and risk management
We accord great priority to ensuring that our interactions with 
each individual stakeholder are characterised by transparency, 
trust, fairness and integrity. Our compliance management 
system (CMS) helps us to safeguard compliance with applicable 
laws, as well as with in-company guidelines and the ethical 
standards to which we are committed. The CMS is intended 
on the one hand to ensure that our managers and employees 
understand and adhere to these and on the other hand to 
monitor all relevant business activities and processes within 
our Group.
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In our Compliance Management Handbook, we have summa-
rised the most important requirements and all necessary 
organisational structures and processes, listed the relevant 
personnel responsibilities and presented the details of our 
reporting system. This handbook is binding for all of the  
limited liability companies at the Mannheim subgroup of 
MVV Energie AG and is permanently available for downloading 
to all of the employees at this subgroup.  

The other subgroups have introduced equivalent compliance 
management systems. Our Compliance Management  
Handbook is also available in English, for example for our  
British and Czech subgroups.

We have structured our CMS in such a way as to ensure that 
breaches of compliance are basically avoided in advance – 
above all by working with preventative measures in the respec-
tive business processes (so-called systemic compliance). We 
already check relevant processes in sensitive areas during  
the respective operating process, for example, and act early  
to take corrective measures where necessary. Donations and 
payments to parties and political organisations are strictly 
prohibited. Payments to equity providers are made exclusively 
in the form of dividends. 

The head of our group legal, compliance and materials division 
acts as MVV’s Compliance Officer. Together with the various 
organisational units involved, the Compliance Officer compiles 
the relevant compliance regulations, documents them and 
sees to their implementation within business processes. He is 
responsible for ensuring that employee training measures are 
implemented and that due account is taken of all CMS pro-
cesses. Furthermore, he also acts in an advisory and supportive 
capacity to accompany measures intended to prevent and, 
where necessary, investigate any violations of the law, corrup-
tion or deliberate acts harmful to the company. He reports to 
the Executive Board and the Audit Committee.

By actively implementing prevention measures within the  
relevant business processes themselves, we make every effort 
to avert all criminal or grossly incorrect actions or violations of 
the law. MVV has a zero-tolerance policy towards bribery and 
all other forms of corruption. To help prevent corruption, we 
therefore provide extensive training particularly to employees 
working in sales, related areas and procurement. Employees 
also receive precise instructions on how to deal with gratuities 
and invitations. We record and check any gratuities offered  
or invitations received. These measures enable us to minimise 
the risk of “soft bribery”. We also continually monitor adher-
ence to compliance requirements – and that in all business 
fields, specialist divisions, group departments and subsidiaries. 
Employees and third parties can contact the Compliance Officer 
or an external confidence lawyer directly. Via “Whistleblower 
Hotlines”, they can provide anonymous tip-offs on potential 
misconduct. The telephone number of the confidence lawyer 
is also published on our website at    www.mvv.de.

In the period under report, we received individual tip-offs about 
suspected compliance infringements both via our internal 
whistleblower hotline and directly by our Compliance Officer. 
Only one notification was provided on an anonymous basis. 
None of these involved cases of material significance.

To make sure that all of MVV’s managers and all of its employ-
ees with contact to customers or suppliers are well informed 
of general compliance requirements and familiar with the 
legal requirements relevant to their respective business units, 
we also provide regular training. The topics covered by this 
training include the requirements of capital market, secu
rities and stock market law, competition and cartel law and 
energy industry law. We provide extensive training to new 
management staff. For this, all newly appointed managing 
directors and all upcoming management staff take part in  
a seminar held over several days, with attendance obligatory  
for all management staff from section manager upwards.  
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In the 2018 financial year, 169 employees at the Mannheim 
subgroup and 65 employees at the other subgroups took part 
in this training. During this period, a further 418 individuals 
completed an online training programme provided by our 
Stadtwerke Kiel subsidiary. At the end of each financial year, 
all senior managers are required to submit a Compliance 
Management Declaration (CMD) in which they must state 
whether the relevant compliance regulations and legal 
requirements have been complied with. The matters covered 
by the CMD include an enquiry as to whether, as required,  
the employees of the respective manager have received 
instruction and suitable training for the CMS. Moreover, in  
the context of the CMD the managers also respond in detail 
to questions specifically tailored to circumstances at their 
respective business unit.

The energy industry supply chain is greatly influenced by fuel 
trading, which is handled on energy exchanges or in bilateral 
agreements. A significantly lower share of our total procurement 
volumes relate to other suppliers who provide us with goods 
or perform highly qualified services for us. We also attach great 
value to compliance in our cooperation with them. We work 
with supplier management systems and request information 
from our new suppliers, particularly with regard to anti- 
corruption measures, environmental protection and social 
responsibility. The basis for our cooperation with suppliers 
and service providers in Germany and the EU is provided by the 
applicable laws and regulations, as well as by those compliance 
regulations, forms of conduct and work practices relevant to 
us. These include, for example, the international conventions 
of the United Nations (UN), the International Labour Organi-
zation (ILO) and the Organisation for Economic Cooperation 
and Development (OECD), as well as the UN Global Compact.

Our risk management system and the internal control system 
in respect of the financial reporting process (IKS) are further 
major components of our corporate management.

Dual management system
As a listed stock corporation with its legal domicile in Mannheim, 
MVV Energie AG is governed by the requirements of German 
corporate law. One basic principle of this legislation involves 
the dual management system comprising the Executive and 
Supervisory Boards. These two boards are strictly separate in 
terms of their composition and function. The Executive Board 
is responsible for managing the company and conducting  
its business, while the Supervisory Board is entrusted with 
advising and monitoring the Executive Board. The Executive 
and Supervisory Boards of MVV Energie AG work together 
closely and on a basis of trust in the interests of the company.

Composition and mode of operation of Executive Board 
The Executive Board manages the company under its own 
responsibility and with the aim of generating sustainable  
and profitable growth. It determines the company’s strategic 
alignment and lays down its financial, investment and per-
sonnel planning. It assesses whether the strategy is being 
implemented in a targeted manner and whether the risk 
management system is fit for purpose. It also monitors risk 
controlling, the internal control system in respect of the financial 
reporting process (IKS) and the compliance management  
system. In its decisions, it takes due account of the interests  
of the company’s stakeholders.

The Supervisory Board has imposed a Code of Procedure  
governing the activities of the Executive Board, in which it  
has laid down the divisional responsibilities as well as those 
duties and decisions incumbent on the overall Executive 
Board. Furthermore, it defines the responsibilities of the Chief 
Executive Officer (CEO), the ways in which Executive Board 
resolutions are adopted and those transactions which require 
Supervisory Board approval. The Executive Board must com-
prise at least two members and currently has three positions/
divisions: CEO/Commercial Affairs, Sales and Technology.  
The CEO also performs the function of Labour Director.

The CEO coordinates the work within the Executive Board  
and also represents the Executive Board externally. Other than 
this, Executive Board members enjoy equal rights and are 
jointly responsible for managing the company. They manage 
their divisions under their own responsibility, but are never-
theless required to subordinate the specific interests of their 
divisions to the overriding interests of the company.
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Diversity concept for composition of Executive Board
In 2018, the Supervisory Board compiled and adopted a  
diversity concept which formulates the targets and criteria 
underlying the composition of the Executive Board. 

The composition of the Executive Board is consistent with  
MVV’s entrepreneurial approach. The Executive Board of MVV 
Energie AG should be composed in such a way that qualified 
leadership, control and business management is guaranteed 
at all times for MVV Energie AG and the MVV Group. Candidates 
for the Executive Board of MVV Energie AG have to be able to 
correctly assess the economic situation and technical frame-
work of a listed energy supplier with municipal roots and to 
successfully shape its sustainable development. Individual 
members of the Executive Board are not expected to have the 
full range of specific specialist skills, competencies and experi-
ence required. However, their individual skills, competencies 
and experience should complement each other and, where 
appropriate, overlap in such a way that the Executive Board  
as a whole has the necessary specialist skills and variety of 
experience. The members of the Executive Board bear joint 
responsibility for managing the company and the Group.  
They should therefore have sufficient expertise to be able to 
supervise each other’s activities and represent each other.

To provide information about the experience, expertise and 
skills of our Executive Board members, we have published 
their CVs on our website at    www.mvv.de/investors. 

Furthermore, the diversity concept for the composition of  
the Executive Board also accounts for the following aspects:

Due account should be taken of the upper age limit of 65 years 
when concluding employment contracts. As a general rule, 
members should not be appointed for the maximum five-year 
term upon their first appointment. Furthermore, the Super
visory Board should work together with the Executive Board 
to find long-term succession solutions. The Supervisory Board 
aims to increase the share of women on the Executive Board. 
In 2017, it set a target of 25 % for the period ending on 30 Sep-
tember 2021.

Composition and mode of operation  
of Supervisory Board and its committees
The Supervisory Board has the task of advising the Executive 
Board in its management of the company and of supervising 
its activities. Its responsibilities also include appointing and 
dismissing members of the Executive Board. The Supervisory 
Board is involved in decisions of fundamental significance for 
the company. In view of this, the Executive Board informs the 
Supervisory Board regularly, promptly and comprehensively  
of its intended strategy and other fundamental matters of 
corporate planning. Furthermore, the Executive Board reports 
to the Supervisory Board on the company’s business perfor-
mance and situation, as well as on its risk situation and risk 
management.

The Supervisory Board of MVV Energie AG consists of  
20 members – of which ten shareholder representatives  
and ten employee representatives, with identical terms of 
office in each case. Eight of the shareholder representatives 
are elected by the Annual General Meeting, while two are 
directly delegated by the City of Mannheim, namely the Lord 
High Mayor and the relevant specialist head of department. 
This provision applies to the extent that the City of Mannheim 
is a shareholder and – directly or indirectly – holds shares  
corresponding to more than half of the company’s share capital. 

In accordance with the German Codetermination Act  
(MitbestG), ten Supervisory Board members are elected by 
employees to act as employee representatives. The Super
visory Board Chairman, i.e. the Lord High Mayor of the City  
of Mannheim, coordinates the work of the Supervisory Board, 
whose activities are governed by a Code of Procedure.

To structure its activities efficiently, the Supervisory Board of 
MVV Energie AG has formed five specially qualified permanent 
committees which prepare and supplement its activities.  
The Audit Committee meets several times a year, while the 
Personnel, Nomination, Mediation and New Authorised  
Capital Creation Committees are convened when necessary. 
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The Audit Committee is tasked with dealing with fundamental 
financial reporting issues. It is also responsible for preparing 
the selection of the auditor, performing an advance review  
of and discussing the annual and consolidated financial state-
ments and the interim consolidated financial statements  
for the 1st half and the interim financial statements for the  
1st quarter and 1st nine months. It is also required to deal with 
corporate planning, strategy and the performance of individual 
business fields, as well as with the development and structure 
of individual controlling systems. Furthermore, the committee 
monitors the effectiveness of the internal control system (IKS), 
internal audit and the risk management system and checks 
whether the organisational precautions taken to comply  
with legal requirements and internal company guidelines 
(compliance) are sufficiently effective. The Audit Committee 
also determines the key focuses of the audit and takes any 
decisions about commissioning non-audit services. The com-
mittee comprises three shareholder representatives and  
three employee representatives. Professor Heinz-Werner Ufer 
is the Chairman of this committee. As an independent and 
expert member, he meets the requirements of § 100 (5) and  
§ 107 (4) of the German Stock Corporation Act (AktG) and  
of Point 5.3.2 Sentences 2 and 3 of the German Corporate 
Governance Code (DCGK). The Supervisory Board Chairman is 
a permanent guest in the committee. In the 2018 financial year, 
the Audit Committee implemented the selection procedure 
for assigning the audit of the annual and consolidated financial 
statements of MVV Energie AG from the 2019 financial year 
and prepared the corresponding election proposal to the 2019 
Annual General Meeting. The selection procedure was neces-
sary due to the Audit Regulation (Regulation (EU) No. 537/2014). 
This came into effect on 17 June 2016 and lays down specific 
requirements in auditing at companies of public interest as 
well as rescinding Decision 2005/909/EC of the Commission). 
Specifically, the selection procedure was necessary because, 
with its audit of the financial statements for the 2018 financial 
year, the current auditor has reached the maximum ten-year 
term for audit engagements. 

Supervisory Board resolutions concerning the conclusion, 
amendment and rescission of employment contracts with 
Executive Board members are prepared by the Personnel  
Committee. Its tasks also include ensuring that the objectives 

pursued in the diversity concept for the composition of the 
Executive Board are met. The committee proposes suitable 
candidates to the Supervisory Board for appointment to the 
Executive Board. In this, it also takes due account of legal 
requirements and of the recommendations and suggestions 
contained in the German Corporate Governance Code. Based 
on these preparatory measures performed by the Personnel 
Committee, the Supervisory Board is responsible for appointing 
new members to the Executive Board and extending existing 
employment contracts. When selecting new Executive Board 
members, the Supervisory Board develops and works with 
current requirements profiles based on the diversity concept 
for the composition of the Executive Board. The committee 
comprises the Supervisory Board Chairman, who is also Per-
sonnel Committee Chairman, his deputy and four Supervisory 
Board members, of which two shareholder and two employee 
members. 

The Nomination Committee is charged with proposing suitable 
candidates to the Supervisory Board for its own proposals  
to the Annual General Meeting. In this, it takes particular 
account of legal requirements, the diversity concept and  
the recommendations and suggestions made by the German  
Corporate Governance Code. Moreover, it determines the  
targets for the composition of the Supervisory Board. The 
members of the committee include the Supervisory Board 
Chairman, who also chairs the committee, and further  
shareholder representative members.

Consistent with § 27 (3) of the German Codetermination  
Act (MitbestG), the Mediation Committee submits further 
personnel proposals to the Supervisory Board in cases where 
the two-third majority required to appoint and dismiss  
Executive Board members is not achieved in the first ballot.

The New Authorised Capital Creation Committee is responsible 
for preparing the Supervisory Board resolutions required  
to create new authorised capital. This committee comprises 
eight members: the Supervisory Board Chairman, who also 
chairs the committee, his deputy and six further Supervisory 
Board members, of which one employee representative and 
five shareholder representatives. 
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Diversity concept for composition of Supervisory Board
Based on the existing requirements profile for its members,  
in 2018 the Supervisory Board devised and adopted a diversity 
concept setting out the targets for and the criteria governing 
its composition.

The specialist and personal requirements set out in the profile 
– which the Supervisory Board of MVV Energie AG meets in  
its current composition – are intended to ensure a transparent 
and systematic selection process for new Supervisory Board 
members and a suitable and well-balanced composition for 
the Board as a whole. The aim is to ensure that the Supervisory 
Board of MVV Energie AG is composed in such a way that it 
can at all times provide qualified supervision and advice to the 
Executive Board in its activities on behalf of MVV. Candidates 
for the Supervisory Board of MVV Energie AG have to be able 
to correctly assess the economic situation and technical frame-
work of a listed energy supplier with municipal roots and  
to successfully accompany its sustainable development. Indi-
vidual Supervisory Board members are not expected to have 
the full range of specific specialist skills, competencies and 
experience required. However, their individual skills, com
petencies and experience should complement each other and, 
where appropriate, overlap in such a way that the full Board 
has the specialist skills and variety of experience necessary for 
it to perform the duties incumbent on the Supervisory Board 
and its committees. 

Furthermore, the Board must include at least one financial 
expert with the qualifications called for by the German Stock 
Corporation Act (AktG) and the German Corporate Governance 
Code. The Supervisory Board should include an adequate 
number of independent members.

To provide information about the experience, expertise and 
skills of our Supervisory Board members, we have published 
their CVs on our website at   www.mvv.de/investors.

Furthermore, the diversity concept for the composition of  
the Supervisory Board also accounts for the following aspects:

When proposing candidates, due account must be taken of 
the upper age limit of 70 years, which as a general rule should 
not be exceeded during the term in office. With regard to the 
length of membership, elected Supervisory Board members 
should, where possible, remain on the Board for no less than 
one and no more than three full terms in office. 

Pursuant to § 96 (2) Sentence 1 AktG, the Supervisory Board  
of a listed company should comprise at least 30 % women and 
at least 30 % men. Under § 96 (2) Sentence 2 AktG, this require-
ment basically applies for the Supervisory Board as a whole. 
For the Supervisory Board of MVV Energie AG, however, both 
employee and shareholder representatives have drawn on the 
possibility provided for in § 96 (2) Sentence 3 AktG, namely  
of stipulating that these minimum shares should be met not 
only for the Supervisory Board as a whole, but also for employee 
and shareholder representatives respectively. Accordingly, of 
the positions allocable to shareholder and employee represent-
atives at least three for each group must be held by women 
and at least three by men. 

One task incumbent on the Nomination Committee involves 
implementing the diversity concept for the composition of 
the Supervisory Board. It proposes suitable candidates to the 
Supervisory Board for its election proposals to the Annual 
General Meeting. In this, it takes due account of legal require-
ments and of the recommendations and suggestions in the 
German Corporate Governance Code. Before nominating a 
proposed candidate, the Supervisory Board ascertains whether  
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the potential candidate has sufficient time to perform the 
duties associated with the position and whether he or she has 
any business and/or personal links to the group of companies 
or its competitors. The selection of employee representatives 
for the Supervisory Board is governed by the provisions of 
codetermination law.

The Supervisory Board witnessed one change in its composition 
in the 2018 financial year. Steffen Ratzel was appointed as  
a Supervisory Board member as of 1 January 2018 by order of 
Mannheim District Court dated 21 December 2017. He was 
subsequently elected to the Supervisory Board by the Annual 
General Meeting on 9 March 2018. He succeeded Carsten 
Südmersen, who retired from the Supervisory Board as of  
31 December 2017. The election proposal was based on a  
recommendation made to the Supervisory Board by the Nomi-
nation Committee and accounted for the targets set by the 
Supervisory Board for its composition. 

Conflicts of interest and independence  
of Supervisory Board members
In respect of Point 5.4.2 of the German Corporate Governance 
Code, we are of the opinion that all members of the Supervisory 
Board are independent in the spirit of the Code. There are no 
personal or business, i.e. commercial, links between the com-
pany and its management bodies. Any conflicts of interest 
arising on the part of Executive or Supervisory Board members 
are disclosed to the Supervisory Board immediately. We also 
view the Supervisory Board members delegated by the City  
of Mannheim as being independent in the sense of this rec-
ommendation. The City of Mannheim owns a majority of  
the shares in MVV Energie AG. Pursuant to the Municipalities 
Code of the State of Baden-Württemberg, the city council is 
the topmost political body representing the city. It is therefore 
consistent that the City of Mannheim, as principal shareholder 
in MVV Energie AG, should be represented on the company’s 
Supervisory Board by members of the City Council. The decisive 
factor in determining independence is whether there are  
any material conflicts of interest. This is not the case for the 
members thereby delegated. 

Report on equal participation of women and men
The Supervisory and Executive Boards of MVV Energie AG are 
convinced that the company can only generate sustainable 
business success when responsibility is assigned to both 
women and men on a basis of equality. Furthermore, due to 
both social and economic considerations it makes sense to 
promote all talents regardless of their gender. Among other 
benefits, this approach also actively counters the effects  
of any shortage of specialist and management staff due to 
demographic changes. To date, female employees have only 
made up a comparatively low share of the overall workforce at 
companies operating in the energy industry. The Supervisory 
and Executive Boards of MVV Energie AG therefore aim to 
increase the share of women working at the group of com
panies on a long-term basis, as this represents a major key to 
the company’s successful further development. We aim to 
gradually raise the female share of our Group’s workforce to 
35 % by 30 September 2021, up from the equivalent figure  
of 27 % as of 30 June 2015. With a 28 % share of female 
employees as of 30 September 2018, we came slightly closer 
to reaching this target. We also aim to raise the share of 
female managers, in this case to 25 % compared with 14 % as 
of 30 June 2015. By the end of the 2017 financial year, women 
already accounted for 16 % of management staff. However, 
reorganisation measures at the Group led this figure to fall  
to 14 % at the balance sheet date on 30 September 2018,  
thus returning to the level as of 30 June 2015. To enable us  
to meet our targets by 30 September 2021, we will consist-
ently implement our range of promotional measures and  
programmes, and in particular our targeted personnel devel-
opment for women with suitable potential, and will expand 
these measures and programmes in the years ahead. 

For MVV Energie AG, we report on the share of women in both 
the first and second management tiers. In August 2017, the 
Executive Board set new targets, namely of achieving a 25 % 
share in the first management tier and a 30 % share in the 
second management tier. Both targets are to be achieved by 
30 September 2021. At 11 %, the share of female managers  
in the first management tier was unchanged as of 30 Septem-
ber 2018 (30 September 2017: 11 %). In the second manage-
ment tier, the share of female managers came to 22 % as of  
30 September 2018 (30 September 2017: 25 %). By introducing 
suitable measures – over and above the measures already in 
place to promote female employees – we aim to attract more 
applications from promising external and internal candidates. 
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In what follows, we explain the principles of our compensation 
system for the Executive Board of MVV Energie AG. We also 
provide information about the structure and level of com
pensation paid to members of our Executive Board and our 
Supervisory Board.

Executive Board Compensation

Compensation system
Our compensation system is structured in such a way as  
to incentivise the sustainable long-term development in  
the company’s value and its economic success. We take due 
account of the requirements of the German Commercial Code 
(HGB) and the German Stock Corporation Act (AktG), as well 
as of the recommendations of the German Corporate Govern-
ance Code. The Supervisory Board regularly reviews the system 
and the level of compensation paid to members of our Execu-
tive Board and also determines both of these aspects. The 
necessary resolutions are prepared by the Supervisory Board’s 
Personnel Committee. 

Executive Board compensation comprises non-performance- 
related and performance-related components. Should an 
Executive Board member prematurely leave the company, the 
following requirements apply to any compensation agreement: 
Payments to a retiring Executive Board member may not exceed 
the value of two annual compensation packages and may  
also not exceed the compensation due for the remaining term 
of the employment contract. No transitional allowances are 
granted upon the premature termination or non-extension  
of the employment contract. No payments were either com-
mitted or made by third parties to Executive Board members 
in connection with their activities as such.

Non-performance-related compensation
The non-performance-related compensation components 
comprise fixed compensation, fringe benefits and pension 
commitments.

The fixed compensation is paid in prorated instalments in  
the form of a monthly salary. Furthermore, Executive Board 
members receive fringe benefits mainly consisting of contri-
butions to insurance policies customary to the market and  
the non-cash benefit in kind resulting from company car use. 
Fringe benefits have to be taxed individually by the Executive 
Board members. 

All Executive Board members of MVV Energie AG have been 
granted defined contribution pension commitments whose 
volume is based on the balances on virtual pension accounts 
at the time at which the benefits are claimed. The accounts are 
credited with annual pension contributions that bear annual 
interest. These commitments also include benefits to cover 
any permanent inability to work and provision for surviving 
dependants.

Performance-related compensation
The variable compensation paid to our Executive Board members 
is determined by two components, each of which is furnished 
with appropriate minimum thresholds and caps. These relate 
on the one hand to the annual bonus, which is based on the 
adjusted EBIT generated by MVV in the past financial year and 
on the other hand to the sustainability bonus, which is linked 
to the sustainable increase in the company’s value. 

The latter bonus is based on MVV’s average ROCE (return on 
capital employed) before IAS 39 items, with the calculation 
including the figures both for the past financial year and for 
the two preceding financial years. The ROCE figure measures 
how effectively the company has used its capital employed.  
As the capital required for operations is determined above all 
by long-term strategic decisions, this figure is well suited to 
appraise the company’s sustainability. The sustainability bonus 
is only paid when the ROCE calculated for a three-year period 
exceeds a specified minimum threshold. 

Compared with the annual bonus, the sustainability bonus 
accounted for the predominant share of variable compensation 
paid to the members of MVV’s Executive Board in the 2018 
financial year. No further multiyear compensation is provided 
for, neither does the company have any stock option pro-
grammes or any comparable instruments.

Compensation Report
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Total compensation of Executive Board
Compensation totalling Euro 2,209 thousand was paid to the 
Executive Board of MVV Energie AG in the year under report 
(previous year: Euro 2,318 thousand).

In the tables opposite, we provide information about the bene-
fits granted and the actual incomes paid in the year under 
report in accordance with the recommendations of the German 
Corporate Governance Code and total compensation pursu-
ant to German Accounting Standard 17 (DRS 17). Given the 
structure of our compensation system, the benefits granted 
and actual incomes paid are identical. 

Benefits of Euro 513 thousand were paid to former members 
of the Executive Board in the year under report. We stated 
provisions totalling Euro 16,532 thousand for pension obli
gations towards former Executive Board members and their 
surviving dependants (previous year: Euro 16,784 thousand). 
Of this total, an amount of Euro 336 thousand was added in 
the year under report (previous year: Euro 275 thousand).

Compensation of related parties
Management staff performing key functions count as related 
parties pursuant to IAS 24. Alongside the Executive Board 
members, at MVV we see this group of persons as also includ-
ing the active division heads and authorised representatives 
of MVV Energie AG. Our division heads and authorised repre-
sentatives receive their compensation exclusively from MVV 
Energie AG. In the year under report, the corresponding compen-
sation came to Euro 2,439 thousand, with Euro 2,332 thousand 
of this total involving payments with current maturities. Unless 
they are insured via municipal supplementary pension com-
panies (ZVKs), division heads and authorised representatives 
receive a defined contribution company pension of up to 8.6 % 
of their fixed compensation. They themselves can select which 
biometric risks they would like to cover. The expenses incurred 
for this compensation totalled Euro 107 thousand in the 2018 
financial year.

Benefits granted and incomes paid

Euro 000s

Dr. Georg Müller  
CEO

FY 2018 
Min  

FY 2018 
Max  

FY 2018 FY 2017 

Fixed compensation 1  507 507  507 507

Fringe benefits 2 30 30 30 30

Other compensation 3 17 17  17 17

Total 554 554 554 554

Variable compensation 391 0 1,014 440

Total pay 945 554  1,568 994

Pension expenses 4 247  247  247 279

Total compensation 1,192 801  1,815 1,273

Euro 000s 

Ralf Klöpfer  
Sales Director

FY 2018 
Min  

FY 2018 
Max  

FY 2018 FY 2017 

Fixed compensation 1 303 303 303 303

Fringe benefits 2 73  73 73 72

Other activities 3 10  10  10 10 

Total 386  386 386 385 

Variable compensation 261 0 606 293

Total pay 647 386 992 678

Pension expenses 4 192  192  192 197

Total compensation 839 578  1,184 875

Euro 000s

Dr. Hansjörg Roll  
Technology Director 

FY 2018 
Min  

FY 2018 
Max  

FY 2018 FY 2017

Fixed compensation 1 303  303 303 303

Fringe benefits 2  39  39 39 38 

Other activities 3  14  14 14 12 

Total  356  356  356 353

Variable compensation 261  0  606 293

Total pay 617  356  962 646

Pension expenses 4 227 227 227 261

Total compensation  844 583  1,189 907

1	� Annual fixed compensation including CEO allowance of Euro 204 thousand  
for Dr. Georg Müller 

2	� Contributions to voluntary pension insurance, health insurance, nursing care insurance, 
voluntary contributions to employers’ mutual insurance association, non-cash benefits/ 
benefits in kind 

3	� Compensation for board activity at subsidiaries and shareholdings  
(entitlement in respective financial year)

4	 Service cost from commitments of pensions and other benefits pursuant to IAS 19
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Pension obligations

Euro 000s

Development in virtual  
pension accounts 

Pension  
provision

Allocation to  
pension provision

Balance at  
1 Oct 2017

Pension  
contribution

Balance at
30 Sep 2018 1

Balance at
30 Sep 2018 2

Service cost Interest 
expenses

Dr. Georg Müller 2,301 159  2,565  3,924 247 73 

Ralf Klöpfer 489  121  630 973  192 16

Dr. Hansjörg Roll 380  138 534 857  227 12 

Total 3,170  418 3,729 5,754  666 101 

1	 Including interest
2	 Equivalent to present value of vested claims

Supervisory Board Compensation

Compensation system
The compensation of Supervisory Board members as adopted 
by the Annual General Meeting is laid down in the Articles  
of Incorporation of MVV Energie AG. The compensation paid 
to our Supervisory Board members is commensurate to the 
responsibility they bear and to the scope of their activities. 
Each Supervisory Board member received annual compensation 
of Euro 10 thousand in the 2018 financial year. The Supervisory 
Board Chairman received annual compensation of Euro 20 thou-
sand and his deputy was paid Euro 15 thousand. Members 
joining or leaving the Supervisory Board during the financial 
year received prorated compensation. The Audit Committee 
Chairman received additional annual compensation of Euro 5 
thousand, while the other members of the committee each 
received Euro 2.5 thousand. Furthermore, each Supervisory 
Board member received Euro 1 thousand for each meeting of 
the full Supervisory Board or committee meeting attended. The 
Supervisory Board Chairman receives twice this amount for 
each meeting of the Supervisory Board, as does the Audit Com-
mittee Chairman for each meeting of the Audit Committee. 

Total compensation of Supervisory Board
Compensation totalling Euro 412 thousand was paid to Super-
visory Board members in the year under report (previous year: 
Euro 410 thousand). 

Supervisory Board compensation FY 2018 

Euro

Supervisory 
Board  

compensation

Meeting  
allowances 

Dr. Peter Kurz, Chairman 20,000 16,000 

Johannes Böttcher 10,000 5,000 

Timo Carstensen 10,000 5,000 

Ralf Eisenhauer 10,000 8,000 

Peter Erni 12,500 16,000

Detlef Falk 12,500 13,000

Dieter Hassel 10,000 5,000 

Barbara Hoffmann 10,000 6,000

Prof. Dr. Heidrun Kämper 10,000 5,000 

Heike Kamradt 17,500 17,000 

Brigitte Kemmer 10,000 5,000 

Dr. Antje Mohr 10,000 5,000 

Dr. Lorenz Näger 12,500 11,000 

Steffen Ratzel 9,375 9,000

Peter Sattler 10,000 5,000

Bernhard Schumacher 10,000 5,000

Christian Specht 10,000 4,000 

Carsten Südmersen 3,125 5,000 

Katja Udluft 10,000 4,000

Prof. Heinz-Werner Ufer 15,000 24,000

Jürgen Wiesner 10,000 6,000 

Total 232,500 179,000
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The Combined Management Report includes takeover-related 
disclosures as per § 289a (1) and § 315a (1) of the German 
Commercial Code (HGB). The Executive Board examined these 
disclosures and offers the following explanatory comments:

Composition of share capital
At the balance sheet date on 30 September 2018, the com
pany’s share capital totalled Euro 168,721,397.76 and was 
divided into 65,906,796 individual non-par registered shares 
with a prorated amount in the share capital of Euro 2.56 per 
share. Each share entitles its holder to exercise one vote at the 
Annual General meeting of MVV Energie AG, as well as to the 
rights and obligations accruing to it by law and the Articles of 
Incorporation.

Restrictions on voting rights and transferability;  
shares with special rights
As far as we are aware, a consortium agreement including 
provisions for the exercising of voting rights and the transfer 
of shares is in place between the City of Mannheim, MKB 
Mannheimer Kommunalbeteiligungen GmbH (previously: 
MVV GmbH), MV Mannheimer Verkehr GmbH (previously: 
MVV Verkehr GmbH) and RheinEnergie AG. There are no shares 
with special rights conferring powers of control.

Direct or indirect shareholdings exceeding 10 %  
of voting rights
The City of Mannheim indirectly held 50.1 % of the shares in 
MVV Energie AG at the balance sheet date, while EnBW Energie 
Baden-Württemberg AG, Karlsruhe, held a direct stake of 28.8 % 
and RheinEnergie AG, Cologne, directly held 16.3 % of the shares. 

Control of voting rights
There is no control of voting rights as defined in § 289 (4) No. 5 
and § 315 (4) No. 5 HGB.

Regulations for appointing and dismissing Executive 
Board members and to amend Articles of Incorporation
The appointment and dismissal of Executive Board members 
is based on § 76 et seq. of the German Stock Corporation Act 
(AktG), and especially on § 84 f AktG and § 30 et seq. of the Ger-
man Codetermination Act (MitbestG). In line with the Articles 
of Incorporation, the company’s Executive Board consists of at 
least two members. The Supervisory Board is responsible for 
determining the number of members and for appointing and 
dismissing members. Members are appointed for a maximum 
five-year term, with repeated appointments possible.

Amendments to the Articles of Incorporation must be under-
taken in accordance with § 133 and § 179 AktG in conjunction 
with § 19 of the company’s Articles of Incorporation. Pursuant 
to § 19 (1) of the Articles of Incorporation, a simple majority  
of the share capital with voting entitlement participating in 
the adoption of a resolution is also sufficient to amend the 
Articles of Incorporation, unless mandatory legal provisions 
require a larger majority. Pursuant to § 11 (3) of the company’s 
Articles of Incorporation, the Supervisory Board is authorised 
to adopt amendments to the Articles of Incorporation that 
only affect the respective wording.

Powers of Executive Board to issue and buy back shares 
By resolution on 13 March 2015, the Annual General Meeting 
authorised the Executive Board until 12 March 2020 to acquire 
treasury stock up to an amount of 10 % of existing share capital 
upon adoption of the resolution.

By resolution on 14 March 2014, the Annual General Meeting 
authorised the Executive Board until 13 March 2019, subject 
to approval by the Supervisory Board, to raise the share capital 
by a total of up to Euro 51.2 million by issuing up to 20 million 
new individual non-par registered shares on one or several 
occasions in return for cash and/or non-cash contributions.

The Executive Board of MVV Energie AG has not yet made use 
of these authorisations.

Compensation agreements and change of control clauses
There are no material agreements at MVV Energie AG that  
are subject to a change of control resulting from a takeover 
bid (change of control clauses). The company has also not con-
cluded any compensation agreements with members of the 
Executive Board or employees for the event of a takeover bid.

Takeover-Related Disclosures
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»» Energy policy and economic climate remain challenging
»» Sales and earnings expected at around previous year’s levels 
»» Investments set to remain high 

OUTLOOK

Macroeconomic framework

According to the autumn survey of Germany’s leading economic 
research institutes, the upturn in Germany continued in the 
2018 calendar year, albeit at a slower pace than in previous 
years. For 2018 as a whole, the experts have predicted gross 
domestic product growth of 1.7 %. Stimulated by fiscal policy, 
the German economy should then grow by 1.9 % in the 2019 
calendar year. 

Energy policy framework

For MVV’s future business performance, the following factors 
are particularly relevant: energy policy decisions concerning 
the expansion in renewable energies (both in Germany and 
abroad), the further development of the German Combined 
Heat and Power Generation Act (KWKG) and the recommen-
dations made by the “Commission on Growth, Structural Change 
and Employment”. Furthermore, the EU “Clean Energy Pack-
age” is expected to be agreed in the 2019 financial year and 
will then have to be implemented in member states. All these 
initiatives will create long-term momentum, but may also 
influence our business in the short term.

Energy industry developments

The spreads from conventional electricity generation have 
persisted at low levels for years now. We currently see no indi-
cations of any reversal in this trend. The sales business is still 
characterised by great competitive pressure, while grid divisions 
are adversely affected by the impact of regulation. The re- 
newable energies project development business is becoming 
increasingly complex. This may lead to postponements in the 
realisation of projects and the respective earnings.

Executive Board summary of expected  
business performance

Given the energy policy and industry framework, we expect 
the market climate to remain highly challenging in the 2019 
financial year as well. We will consistently continue to pursue 
our corporate strategy, which focuses on generating sustainable 
growth. We are continuing to counter charges on earnings 
potentially resulting from the ongoing conversion in the Ger-
man energy system by making targeted investments in our 
growth and implementing measures to enhance efficiency 
and reduce costs. 

Expected sales performance

We expect MVV’s sales (excluding energy taxes) in the 2019 
financial year to approximately match the previous year’s level 
(Euro 3.9 billion). Our sales performance will depend above all 
on trading activities and commodity prices, project realisation 
in the renewable energies project development business and 
sales activities, as well as on weather conditions.

We expect sales in the Customer Solutions reporting segment 
to fall moderately short of the previous year’s figure, with one 
key reason for this reduction being the first-time application 
of IFRS 15. In the New Energies reporting segment, we expect 
to see sharp sales growth driven in particular by the project 
development business. For the Supply Reliability reporting 
segment, we expect sales to show moderate growth.

Outlook, Opportunity and Risk Report
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Expected earnings performance

After four years of earnings growth, we expect our adjusted 
EBIT to move sideways in the 2019 financial year. From an 
operating perspective, we therefore expect MVV’s adjusted 
EBIT to approximately match the previous year’s figure (Euro 
228 million). Due to our business model, our earnings perfor-
mance will – as in previous years – chiefly depend on weather 
and wind conditions, electricity and fuel prices, the spreads 
from conventional generation, interest rate and currency items, 
developments in the competitive climate and targeted cost 
management. From a technical perspective, our earnings per-
formance will also be affected by the availability of our plants 
and by fuel transport costs which may, for example, be influ-
enced by water levels. By its very nature, the wind turbine and 
photovoltaics plant project development business is subject 
to greater volatility, and this has increased in recent years. The 
specific time at which operations are launched at our new 
gas-powered CHP plant in Kiel is also of particular significance 
for our earnings performance in the 2019 financial year.

In the Customer Solutions reporting segment, we expect to 
report a significant reduction in adjusted EBIT, mainly because 
earnings here for the 2018 financial year benefited from sales 
of non-current assets, i.e. one-off items. Apart from this, the 
earnings performance of the Customer Solutions segment is 
dependent on weather conditions, the development in taxes 
and duties and in the market and competitive climate. 

Operating earnings in the New Energies reporting segment are 
influenced by the development in waste and biomass prices, 
the availability of our plants, and weather conditions and wind 
volumes. We expect to see rising electricity prices in the 2019 
financial year, a development that will impact positively on 
segment earnings. Not only that, the 2018 financial year was 
characterised by the impairment losses recognised for Juwi.  
In general, the earnings performance is subject to greater vola-
tility due to the activities in the renewable energies project 
development business. Overall, we expect the New Energies 
reporting segment to report a significant increase in its 
adjusted EBIT. 

Earnings in the Supply Reliability reporting segment are 
influenced by, among other factors, developments in the clean 
dark spread (CDS) and the clean spark spread (CSS) – which 
are in turn affected by procurement costs for coal and for gas 
and CO2 emission rights – as well as by the availability of our 
plants. Transport costs for fuel, for example, may increase 
when water levels on the Rhine are low. Segment earnings  
for the 2018 financial year were shaped by income generated 
from the sale of the fibre optic network at MVV Energie AG. 
Depending on the specific date on which operations are 
launched, we expect our new gas-powered CHP plant in Kiel 
to generate its first positive earnings contributions in the 2019 
financial year. On this basis, we expect to see a slight increase 
in adjusted EBIT in the Supply Reliability reporting segment. 

Expected performance of MVV Energie AG  
in separate financial statements 

MVV Energie AG chiefly generates its operating earnings from 
its grid business, sales activities and income from interests 
held in group shareholdings. Overall, we expect annual net 
income after taxes for the 2019 financial year to fall signifi-
cantly short of the previous year’s figure (Euro 116 million), 
which was affected by one-off items.

In future, our customers in large industry, renewable energies 
generation and municipal utilities will be centrally managed 
by MVV Trading. For this reason, sales (excluding energy taxes) 
at MVV Energie AG will decline sharply. For the 2019 financial 
year, we expect to generate sales of between Euro 1.3 billion 
and Euro 1.5 billion. Particularly during the heating period, sales 
and sales volumes in the heating energy business are signifi-
cantly influenced by weather conditions.
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Stable dividend

With our continuity-based dividend policy, we aim to ensure a 
solid return for our shareholders. In view of this, the Executive 
Board has planned the distribution of a dividend of Euro 0.90 
per share for the 2018 financial year, and thus at the same level 
as in the previous year. The dividend proposal to be submitted 
to the 2019 Annual General Meeting will be decided by the 
Executive and Supervisory Boards in December 2018.

Planned investments

Based on information currently available, we will be investing 
significantly higher sums in our growth and in modernising 
and maintaining our plants and grids in the 2019 financial year 
than in the previous year (Euro 290 million).

Capital resources and financing structure

We have excellent access to the financial market and therefore 
encounter no difficulties in covering MVV’s liquidity require-
ments. Our adjusted equity ratio of 37 % enables us to continue 
making a high volume of investments in the energy system  
of the future. We finance investments in our existing business 
primarily from depreciation. For our growth projects, we draw 
on retained earnings and on optimised project-based financing 
facilities, for which we pool projects with structural similarities 
and comparable terms. To this end, we work with the bank 
and promissory note loan market. By defining and complying 
with key figures as guidelines for debt-financed growth, we 
ensure an implicit rating on investment grade level for MVV.

Forward-looking statements and forecasts

Our Combined Management Report for MVV (IFRS) and MVV 
Energie AG (HGB) includes forward-looking statements that 
are based on current assumptions and estimates. Although 
the Executive Board is convinced that these assumptions and 
budgets are accurate, actual future developments and actual 
future earnings may deviate from these forecasts due to the 
high current levels of uncertainty and numerous internal and 
external factors.
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OPPORTUNITY AND RISK REPORT

Opportunities and risks are an integral part of any business 
activity. One key task for our corporate management involves 
identifying both at an early stage of developments, exploiting 
opportunities and countering risks with suitable measures. 
We have installed suitable instruments and processes for this 
purpose. With our internal control system (IKS) in respect of 
the financial reporting process, we ensure correct, reliable and 
uniform company-wide financial reporting. In our risk manage-
ment system (RMS), we particularly record competitive, regu-
latory and technological developments relevant to our company 
at an early stage. This enables us to systematically address  
the resultant opportunities and risks.

Explanation of internal control system (IKS)

MVV’s financial reporting should be correct, complete, prompt 
and easily understandable. We achieve this by working with 
our internal control system (IKS) in respect of the financial 
reporting process, which comprises all principles, procedures, 
regulations and measures necessary for all business trans
actions to be promptly, completely and accurately recorded. 
Moreover, we also use the IKS system to monitor whether legal 
requirements and our internal regulations have been complied 
with. These include the principles of proper accounting, the 
requirements of the German Commercial Code (HGB) and the 
German Stock Corporation Act (AktG), international account-
ing requirements and the supplementary requirements of  
our Articles of Incorporation. Furthermore, the IKS system  
is intended to avoid any material misstatements that could 
arise as a result of errors or fraud. 

Our IKS system covers the relevant accounting and financial 
reporting processes at all major locations. We regularly analyse 
all processes and interfaces involved in preparing MVV’s con-
solidated financial statements and combined management 
report in order to identify any risks that would contravene our 
objective of ensuring correct, complete, prompt and easily under-
standable financial reporting. We have introduced suitable 
organisational safeguards and internal checks to minimise any 
such risks.  

These measures also include providing training to employees 
involved. Furthermore, we work with detailed schedules govern-
ing the preparation of the quarterly statements, interim consol-
idated financial statements, half-year financial report, consoli-
dated financial statements and combined management report. 

A further key measure involves the members of the Executive 
Boards and managing directors of our subsidiaries and select 
division and group division heads being required to submit 
internal balance sheet oaths on a quarterly basis.

Basic principles and organisation of IKS system
Our consolidated financial statements are centrally prepared 
by the commercial division at MVV Energie AG in such a way 
as to comply with International Financial Reporting Standards 
(IFRS) as adopted by the EU as well as the supplementary 
requirements of commercial law set out in § 315a (1) HGB. 
Key accounting matters are dealt with by employees at the 
accounting and tax department, who are also available as 
contact partners to our subsidiaries. 

The consolidated financial statements are prepared using a 
multistage process. In the first stage, individual subsidiaries 
prepare their financial statements, which are then audited by 
their respective auditors. Working with a special consolidation 
software, these financial statements are then aggregated  
into the consolidated financial statements at MVV Energie AG.  
Our consolidation process is based on written guidelines, com-
pliance with which is checked upon preparation of the financial 
statements. The consolidated financial statements are reviewed 
by the Audit Committee and the full Supervisory Board. In the 
final stage, they are approved and adopted by the Supervisory 
Board and subsequently published in line with the relevant 
requirements. 

Our IKS system requires consistent application of the dual 
control principle and the separation of critical functions for  
all processes involved in preparing the financial statements. 
Our guidelines, process instructions and approval processes 
are supported by an internal information and communications 
system. All companies included in our consolidated financial 
statements are subject to uniform accounting and reporting 
guidelines applicable to annual and interim financial state-
ments. These guidelines include both accounting policies appli-
cable in accordance with IFRS and the requirements as to  
how we have to meet other reporting obligations, such as 
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industry-specific or regulatory obligations. Further qualitative 
and quantitative information relevant to the preparation of 
the financial statements is aggregated within the respective 
processes and regularly discussed with representatives of the 
various specialist departments. We record this information 
within the framework of our quality assurance and thus ensure 
that all relevant data is fully documented. We have subdivided 
our day-to-day accounting and the preparation of the annual 
financial statements on the basis of functional perspectives 
and structured this in individual process steps performed on 
all hierarchical levels. All process steps involving risks are safe-
guarded by automatic or manual checks.

In our accounting, we also work with an integrated enterprise 
resource planning (ERP) system which enables numerous 
sources of error to be avoided. Only complete business trans-
actions with valid data are processed. Not only that, a strict 
authorisation concept is in place for all users to prevent any 
unauthorised access to accounting data.

Uniform standards across all locations 
The commercial division at MVV Energie AG is responsible  
for preparing the financial statements and for the Group’s 
internal control system (IKS) in respect of the financial report-
ing process. This way, the IKS system is subject to uniform 
standards applicable throughout the Group. We ensure that 
our IKS system is documented and effective in terms of its 
structure and functionality. 

IKS managers at all major group companies work together with 
the Group’s IKS manager to ensure that local internal control 
systems are consistent with Group requirements. Based on the 
annual status reports received from the local IKS managers, 
the internal audit reports and proprietary information, the IKS 
manager at the Group compiles the Group IKS status report, 
which forms the basis for these comments.

The processes relevant to financial reporting are documented 
together with embedded internal checks in a special software 
and are available to all employees on MVV’s intranet. Where 
need be, this process documentation has been supplemented 
to include regulations applicable to individual cases.

Regular reporting
Within its control process, the group controlling department 
monitors whether the targets set out in the business plan and 
approved by the Supervisory Board are actually met. Variances 
to planned developments and developments in the previous 
financial year are documented. This information is included  
in the quarterly financial reports provided to the Executive 
Board. These present the business performance in detail and 
include comments on all reporting segments and business 
fields. Based on the insights thereby gained, the reports pro-
pose measures on the basis of which the Executive Board 
manages MVV’s business. 

Explanation of risk management system (RMS)

We have structured our risk management system (RMS) in 
such a way as to enable us to identify opportunities and risks 
at an early stage. We define a situation in which a significant 
positive budget variance in company earnings is possible as 
an opportunity. Conversely, we refer to significant potential 
negative variances as risks. We assess opportunities at the 
Group based on in-depth market and competitive analyses. 
Where possible, we aim to reduce risks or pass them on to 
third parties. To achieve this, we develop suitable measures 
and monitor their implementation. Deliberately assuming 
risks may also form part of a successful strategy – provided 
that these risks are manageable and are offset by suitable 
opportunities.

Basic principles and organisation of RMS system
The Executive Board determines the company’s risk policy and 
lays down all processes and responsibilities. Responsibility for 
operative risk management lies with the legal business units 
and business fields and, more specifically, with so-called risk 
bearers. These are the employees responsible for operating 
earnings at the respective business units. They regularly review 
the current business situation, identify material opportunities 
and risks and assess the potential implications of these for the 
budgeted level of adjusted EBIT. They report their assessments 
in standardised form to our central risk controlling function 
on a regular basis. Furthermore, the tasks incumbent on risk 
bearers include implementing measures enabling risks to be 
managed or reduced and opportunities to be exploited.
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The risk situation at the Group is monitored by our central risk 
controlling function, which continually monitors those oppor-
tunities and risks which are basically relevant to our business 
and aggregates these into an opportunity/risk profile. This 
profile represents a net analysis, as it already accounts for all 
countermeasures taken to reduce risks. The opportunities and 
risks are aggregated using probability methods. 

The largest single risks are listed separately. We combine the 
implications of risks materialising with their probability of 
occurrence and evaluate the risk situation. In our short and 
medium-term planning, we carefully weigh up opportunities 
and risks and account for these in our earnings forecast. If 
unexpected developments and events occur, it is nevertheless 
possible that our actual adjusted EBIT will exceed or fall short 
of the value budgeted.

The Executive and Supervisory Boards are provided with a 
quarterly risk report presenting the Group’s opportunity/risk 
profile. Any cases of risk arising urgently are reported to the 
Executive Board immediately. This subsequently informs the 
Supervisory Board and Audit Committee as appropriate.

Supervision of IKS and RMS systems

Both systems, the IKS and the RMS, are implemented, main-
tained and supervised by the Executive Boards and managing 
directors of consolidated subsidiaries. As part of a risk-based 
audit plan, our group internal audit department audits both 
systems regularly, detects any weaknesses and monitors 
whether any improvements introduced have produced the 
desired results.

The appropriateness of the structure and functionality of the 
two systems is checked each year by the Supervisory Board 
and/or Audit Committee of MVV Energie AG.

Presentation of expected risk situation

In what follows, we present the risk situation and material 
company risks for MVV. We allocate these risks into one of  
our total of six risk categories. We subsequently quantify the 
risk situation for each risk category and present the potential 
impact on earnings for each risk category in terms of the Group’s 
adjusted EBIT. We categorise the risk situation in three differ-
ent risk classes: “low”, “medium” and “high”. This classification 
shows how high (in percent) the expected impact of the risk 
group is for the Group’s budgeted adjusted EBIT. We provide  
a detail explanation of material risks within the various risk 
categories. We present the potential implications for our 
reporting segments in line with the reporting structure used 
to manage and report on the business. 

Executive Board
Responsibility for risk policy and 

early warning risk identification system
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Price opportunities and risks
The price opportunities and risks category comprises price 
fluctuations in commodities on both procurement and sales 
markets, exchange rate movements and interest rate changes. 
We deploy financial instruments    Notes to Balance Sheet 
(Note 35), Page 169 to limit interest rate, exchange rate and 
commodity risks.

Fluctuations from marketing our generation positions 
The clean dark spread (CDS) and the clean spark spread (CSS) 
are both calculated as the difference between electricity  
revenues on wholesale markets and the costs incurred to  
generate the electricity. For the CDS, the costs of electricity 
generation include coal costs, while the CSS includes gas 
costs. Both spreads include transport costs, currency trans
lation differences and the costs of CO2 emission rights. We 
monitor and record fluctuations in the spreads with a uni-
form systematic approach across the Group and take suitable 
measures to limit potentially negative implications for our 
generation portfolio management.

In the year under report, both the CDS and the CSS remained 
persistently low. Low electricity spreads impact negatively  
on adjusted EBIT in Supply Reliability, the reporting segment 
to which the marketing of our power plant capacities in the 
Combined Power and Heat business field is allocated.

Opportunities may arise when market prices recover. 

Fluctuations in market procurement prices
We procure most of the energy volumes required by our sales 
departments for customer supplies at our various locations  
on the energy trading market. To this end, our energy trading 
subsidiary MVV Trading concludes futures transactions up to 
several calendar years in advance, taking due account of our 
applicable hedging regulations. This enables us to improve the 
consistency of our earnings and to act early to improve our 
planning reliability for subsequent financial years. 

Fluctuations in waste and biomass prices 
We monitor and evaluate the potential opportunities and 
risks resulting from fluctuations in waste prices, and that in 
both the German and the UK markets. We also observe the 
development in biomass prices across Europe. This enables us 
to identify any potential risks in our New Energies reporting 
segment at an early stage and to mitigate these with suitable 
measures.

Changes in exchange rates
In connection with fuel procurement, our involvement in  
the UK and the Czech Republic and our international project 
development business, exchange rate movements may create 
opportunities or risks should the respective rate fall. We limit 
these risks with natural hedges and futures transactions.

Changes in interest rates
The interest rate risks relevant to our business are continually 
monitored by our finance department. Where possible, we 
finance our investment projects with fixed interest rates for 
congruent terms. Our company planning already accounts for 
the potential impact of rising interest rates when projects are 
refinanced. Changes in interest rates also impact on our pro-
ject development business. Demand for renewable energies 
projects may fall, for example, if interest rates rise and other 
forms of investment become more attractive for investors.
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Volume opportunities and risks
Fluctuations in volumes may impact positively or negatively 
on our operating earnings, and that both on the procurement 
front or the generation and sales front.

Fluctuations in turnover due to weather conditions  
and wind volumes
Weather conditions and wind volumes are key factors which 
influence our business performance. Particularly during the 
heating period from October to April, weather conditions have 
a major effect on our turnover with district heating and gas. 
Wind volumes determine the volume of electricity our wind 
turbines generate. Opportunities arise for our business perfor-
mance should it be cooler than planned during the heating 
period and/or should wind volumes exceed our expectations.

Fluctuations in volumes due to changes in  
economic conditions
MVV is only indirectly affected by macroeconomic develop-
ments. If our major industrial and commercial customers cut 
back their production due to the economic situation, then this 
may lead them to procure lower volumes of energy from us. 
Conversely, there are also opportunities to generate higher sales 
volumes should our customers step up their production due 
to economic developments. 

Fluctuations in volumes due to competition  
or efficiency measures
Competitive pressure remains persistently high in the energy 
market. When customers decide to switch provider, this reduces 
our sales volumes. Not only that, efficiency measures at our 
customers, such as heat insulation, may also lead to volume 
losses. The same holds true when customers switch to gener-
ating and consuming their energy themselves. We exploit the 
opportunities arising in the liberalised market by developing 
innovative and competitive products and services with sub-
stantial customer benefits. We attach great value to working 
together with municipalities on a basis of partnership. This 
way, we create a basis for extending existing concessions and 
increase our chances of acquiring new concessions.
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Risk category Risk class

Risk 1 in % of operating earnings (adjusted EBIT) at Group:
high: > 40 %   medium: 10 % to 40 %   low: 0 % to 10 %

1  Budget variance in earnings: likely average maximum damages in the  
financial year in which the resultant charge on earnings may arise

EXPECTED RISK SITUATION IN FY 2019

»  Market prices:
  • Clean dark spread
  • Clean spark spread
»   Fluctuations in procurement prices
  • Waste and biomass prices
»  Exchange rates
»  Interest rates

»  Regulation
»  Legal risks

»  Fluctuations in turnover: 
  •  Weather conditions and  

wind volumes
  • Economic climate
»  Competition and efficiency
»   Procurement uncertainties for 

waste volumes and biomass

»  Receivables default
»  Refinancing
»  Liquidity
»  Countries

»   Renewable energies  
project development

»  Construction projects
»  Plant operation
»  Personnel
»   IT risks

»   Strategic decisions  
(including investments)
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Procurement of waste volumes and biomass
With regard to incinerating commercial waste and biomass, 
our adjusted EBIT may be affected both by the total volumes 
available and by their quality. These two factors are in turn 
affected by the macroeconomic situation and legal require-
ments, plant capacities at competitors and weather-related 
events. We minimise volume risks for our plants by working 
with professional material and substrate flow management. 
We also pursue a substitute procurement strategy. In individual 
cases, lower calorific values for the waste may be offset with 
higher volumes.

With regard to the UK’s decision to leave the European Union 
(Brexit), there is currently increased uncertainty concerning 
the potential implications for future developments in volumes 
and prices for waste and waste timber within the UK and EU 
market regions.

Operating opportunities and risks
The operating opportunities and risks MVV faces mainly arise 
in connection with its renewable energies project development 
business and with the construction and operation of energy 
generation plants and grids.

When it comes to energy from waste and biomass, we have 
extensive experience in building and operating such plants. 
Here, we see opportunities for our group of companies, espe-
cially in the UK. In the domestic market, we see potential for 
expanding biomass fermentation, one of our new activities,  
as well as for recovering resources when incinerating sewage.

Uncertainties in renewable energies project  
development business
Even though the projects in our project development business 
have significantly shorter planning and construction stages 
than large-scale generation plants, they nevertheless involve 
uncertainties. In general, market developments are dependent 
both on the further development in political regulations and on 
public acceptance levels. The key opportunity and risk factors 
we see in the onshore wind turbine project development busi-
ness in Germany chiefly relate to the scope and structure of 
future project tenders and the development in market interest 
rates. Operational implementation may be adversely affected 
by any delay in obtaining building or operating permits, or 
failure to obtain such permits, and by related issues. In the 
international business, our financial success is increasingly  

dependent on political and macroeconomic developments  
in our target markets. The possibility of disruptions arising  
in international trade relationships, with implications for mar-
ket access (punitive tariffs) and competitiveness, is creating 
great uncertainty with regard to our success abroad, as is the 
possibility of further interventions in subsidy regimes. Along-
side project development, in our renewable energies business 
we also have extensive expertise and great competence in 
operating renewable energies plants. We therefore see oppor-
tunities in this area.

Risks resulting from progress with construction projects
The long planning and construction stages involved in the 
construction of large-scale generation plants also harbour 
corresponding risks. Our expected adjusted EBIT could be neg-
atively affected, for example, by any delays in the completion 
and launch of operations at our major projects, or if we incur 
unplanned costs to procure substitute electricity and heating 
energy or if new developments mean that the costs of the pro-
jects turn out higher. In view of this, we attach great importance 
to ensuring that projects are robustly designed and budgeted 
in the planning stage already. We make sure that the material 
opportunities and risks involved in projects are detected and 
evaluated at an early stage.

Any further delay in the construction of the new gas-powered 
CHP plant in Kiel could delay receipt of the relevant grants. 
Not only that, any construction cost overrun would negatively 
affect the profitability of the project. To the extent that they 
lie within our control, we counter these risks with professional 
project organisation and by commissioning suppliers with 
experience in the sector. Insofar that the respective contracts 
permit us to do so, we transfer project risks – especially cost 
increases and deadline overruns – to the contractual partners 
responsible for such.

Uncertainties resulting from plant operations
Plant operation involves substantial operating uncertainties 
for our Group. These relate to our Supply Reliability reporting 
segment, with its energy generation plants and grid facilities 
supplying our customers with energy and utilities. After all, 
unscheduled downtime at plants may not only lead to a loss 
of production or interruption of supplies, but may also result 
in additional financial expenses to repair the plant, procure 
substitute supplies for our customers or settle contractual 
penalties.
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We therefore make every effort to minimise the resultant risks 
of potential downtime at our plants by performing regular 
maintenance and monitoring measures. We also do this to 
meet the standards we have set ourselves as a forward-looking 
supplier and to avoid any risks to our reputation. We can never-
theless not entirely exclude the possibility of downtime occur-
ring. To counter this risk at source, we optimise scheduled 
inspection times within our maintenance strategy. This way, 
we work towards using capacity at our plants over and above 
the planned hours of use or to increase efficiency rates. This 
also serves to realise opportunities, which may arise due to 
higher generation volumes, and to avoid grid operation risks. 
We have agreed insurance policies to limit the financial impli-
cations of any potential damages. We also assess the risk  
and environmental protection aspects of potential clean-up 
projects on derelict land formerly occupied by our plants. 

Personnel developments
Our success as a company is dependent on well-qualified and 
committed employees. We therefore work with numerous 
measures to attract the right employees for us and to retain 
them in the long term    Employee Concerns Page 49. Risks 
may nevertheless also arise with regard to our personnel. The 
companies within our Group may also be faced with capacity 
risks and risks resulting from ageing workforces due to forth-
coming demographic changes. Depending on the attractiveness 
of the location, these risks may arise to a varying extent. We 
provide targeted training to our employees, enabling us to fill 
key positions with internal candidates in future as well.

The pension surveys we compile also account for the risks 
resulting from pension provisions. We have also factored these 
into our budgets   Notes to Balance Sheet (Note 29), Page 161.

IT risks
Secure data storage and interruption-free information tech-
nology form the basis for virtually all business processes.  
We therefore attach great value to systematically protecting 
our IT infrastructure and IT systems against potential attacks 
by third parties.  

We are continually reducing our IT risks by implementing an 
extensive range of technical and organisational measures. As 
well as working with security systems, we increase security 
with a restrictive approach to granting access authorisations 
to systems and information. We have redundant copies for all 
our key hardware components and permanently reflect data 
between production systems and geographically separate 
backup systems. We also have a backup computer centre. 

Legislative risks
This category pools those uncertainties existing in connection 
with regulation or with other changes in the legal basis for 
our business operations. 

Regulatory risks
For companies operating in the energy industry, there is the 
basic risk that the authorities – such as the Federal Network 
Agency (BNetzA) or cartel offices – may intervene in price 
structures. In the past, this related for example to the grid 
fees set by the BNetzA. Energy policy decisions may also have 
implications for our business performance. Examples here 
include the development in the subsidies paid for electricity 
from renewable energies, which are set in tender processes, 
and the subsidies provided for CHP plants. We counter these 
risks by actively participating in political opinion-forming  
processes. We also publish up-to-date studies to contribute  
to the public debate.

Legal risks
MVV may also be exposed to legal risks in connection with 
court cases, product liability or onerous and unenforceable 
contracts. We therefore check, negotiate and draft contracts 
with the aim of limiting these risks. Our compliance manage-
ment system    www.mvv.de/corporate-governance and 

  Page 100 helps us to avoid any infringements of the law.

MVV’s business performance is also exposed to risks which 
result from legal pronouncements on energy industry-related 
or other topics. These could, for example, restrict or extend 
our ability to structure contracts.
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Financing opportunities and risks
At MVV, financing risks mainly take the form of receivables 
default, refinancing and liquidity risks.

Receivables default risks
We may be affected by receivables defaults if customers or 
business partners fail to settle our invoices, or settle them 
only in part. This risk may arise in our OTC trading activities  
in the Customer Solutions reporting segment, for example,  
or in our long-term supply relationships. In view of this, we 
select our business partners with due commercial prudence 
and check their creditworthiness in order to limit receivables 
default risks in all reporting segments. If necessary, we also 
agree deposits of securities and guarantees. By diversifying 
our portfolio, we avoid clusters of default risks. 

Refinancing and liquidity risks
The possibility of being unable to obtain necessary liquid funds 
in future gives rise to a refinancing and liquidity risk. We have  
a variety of financing instruments at our disposal to cover our 
capital requirements. These include promissory note loans, 
bilateral loans and syndicated loans. We continually monitor 
the financing markets, regularly share information with our 
lenders and carefully monitor our liquidity. This way, we counter 
any refinancing and liquidity risks. Furthermore, our group- 
internal cash pool also serves to reduce this risk.
 
Country risks
MVV is exposed to country risks in the form of transfer risks 
and to the extent that states may become unable or unwilling 
to meet their payment obligations. The potential implications 
of country risks for our adjusted EBIT have risen in significance 
due to our international activities in the renewable energies 
project development business. We continually monitor any 
uncertainties relating to the terms of access to our target 
markets that may arise due to potential disruptions in inter-
national trade relationships. Before we enter new international 
markets, we perform detailed analyses of potential risks. For 
our existing activities, we observe the political and economic 
situation on location, monitor alternative courses of action  

on an ongoing basis and, if circumstances deteriorate, decide 
to leave the given market. Our current expectations as to the 
impact of country risks on our earnings continue to involve 
uncertainties. 

Strategic opportunities and risks
The right strategic decisions form the basis for any company’s 
success. The energy policy and industry framework have been 
changing dynamically for years now. This transformation  
harbours strategic risks, but also creates new opportunities. 
We use our strategic planning process to identify potential 
new markets and technologies. We review our investment pro-
jects in great detail and decide in which markets, technologies, 
companies and projects we intend to invest, as well as the 
timing and scope of such investments. We reach these deci-
sions based on in-depth market and competitive analyses  
and painstaking viability calculations. In close liaison with the 
Executive Board, our group strategy department continually 
monitors our strategic alignment and adjusts this to any new 
circumstances.

One major component of our corporate strategy    Page 65 is 
an extensive investment programme. To enable us to achieve 
our budgeted level of adjusted EBIT, however, strategically 
important investments have to generate the expected level of 
earnings contributions. Despite careful reviews and planning, 
any erroneous assessments may reduce the adjusted EBIT 
planned for future financial years.

The ongoing transformation in the German energy system 
will continue to produce a high level of planning uncertainty 
for our company. We are also monitoring very closely to assess 
how the UK’s decision to leave the European Union (Brexit) 
will impact on our business in the UK. A weaker British pound, 
for example, would reduce our earnings in euros. Moreover, 
this process could also impact on interest rates, commodities, 
demand levels and the regulatory framework. Precise develop-
ments will nevertheless depend on the specific structure of 
the exit agreement reached with the EU. 
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The energy turnaround and the changing market in Germany 
offer opportunities for innovations, new jobs and profitable 
growth. Key catchwords are renewable energies, decentralised 
energy supply, energy efficiency, digitalisation, building refur-
bishment and sustainable mobility concepts. Consistently 
implementing our corporate strategy    Page 65 will enable 
us to seize these opportunities. We are increasing the energy 
efficiency of our CHP plant on Friesenheimer Insel in Mannheim, 
for example, with the planned connection of the plant to the 
existing district heating grid. Not only that, this will enhance 
the environmental friendliness of district heating due to the 
resultant reduction in the primary energy factor.

With regard to renewable energies, we still see sustainably 
attractive market potential. In the windfarm project develop-
ment business, the competitive situation in Germany has  
nevertheless changed. Since 2017, the addition of onshore 
wind turbines has been determined by new market-based 
mechanisms involving tenders. Not only that, market volumes 
have been limited with maximum capacity caps. Furthermore, 
there is uncertainty as to whether the additional wind power 
tenders resolved by politicians will actually be implemented. 
In the German biomass market, we see expansion potential  
in the field of biomass fermentation. In the international busi-
ness, we see growth potential – and thus opportunities for 
earnings growth – in areas such as photovoltaics. Having said 
that, there are also dependencies on local subsidy regimes, 
local clients and noticeable competition, especially in high-
growth markets in Asia.

We are extending our decentralised energy management 
business model with new ranges of innovative solutions  
and products. By further expanding district heating based in 
conjunction with combined heat and power generation, we 
are seizing growth opportunities, particularly at our locations 
in Mannheim, Kiel and Offenbach. The new gas-powered CHP 
plant will help to ensure supply reliability in Kiel.

Executive Board summary

MVV’s opportunity/risk profile has not changed materially since 
last year. On the one hand, competitive pressure is unrelentingly 
high. On the other hand, energy policy decisions still have the 
potential to impact substantially on our business performance, 
as is the case at all other companies in the energy industry. 
This remains a key source of uncertainty. There is great plan-
ning uncertainty, particularly for long-term investments in 
electricity generation plants, but also for the renewable energies 
project development business, which in Germany will depend 
on the structure of future tender rounds. Key risk factors in 
our international target markets for renewable energies also 
include local subsidy regimes and macroeconomic develop-
ments – as well as the development in political frameworks, 
including market access terms, and public acceptance levels. 
We expect our industry to be exposed to further far-reaching 
changes and an unstable underlying framework. Energy markets 
remain highly volatile. Moreover, depending on the specific 
structure of the exit from the EU the Brexit decision may also 
impact on our business. 

We are monitoring these developments closely. Despite our 
well-balanced opportunity/risk profile, our business activities 
therefore remain subject to risks.

From the perspective of MVV’s Executive Board, however, there 
were and are no indications that any risks, whether individual 
or aggregate, could have endangered the continued existence 
of the overall company, or of any material subgroup, in the 
period under report or which could do so in future.
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